
STAFFORD COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS MINUTES 
April 28, 2015 

 
The regular meeting of the Stafford County Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) on Tuesday, April 28, 
2015, was called to order with the determination of a quorum at 7:02 p.m. by Chairman Dean Larson 
in the Board of Supervisors Chamber of the George L. Gordon, Jr., Government Center.   
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Dean Larson, Larry Ingalls, Robert Grimes, Dana Brown, Steven 

Apicella, Heather Stefl 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:  Danny Kim, Ray Davis, Ernest Ackermann 
 
STAFF PRESENT:   Melody Musante, Susan Blackburn, Denise Knighting 
 
DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

 
Dr. Larson:  The Board consists of 7 members and 2 alternate members.  The members present and 
voting tonight are Mr. Steven Apicella, all the way to my left, Mr. Robert Grimes, myself, Mr. Larry 
Ingalls, and Ms. Dana… I’m sorry?  Brown, that’s right, that’s right.  Yes, yes, and Ms. Heather Stefl.  
Okay, the County staff is represented tonight by Ms. Susan Blackburn, our Zoning Administrator, Ms. 
Stefanie (Melody) Musante, the Zoning Manager, and Ms. Denise Knighting, the Administrative 
Manager.  The hearings will be conducted in the following order.  The Chair will ask the staff to read 
the case and members of the Board may ask questions of the staff.  The Chair may ask the applicant or 
their representative to come forward and state their name and address and present their case to the 
Board.  The presentation shall not exceed 10 minutes unless additional time is granted by the Board.  
The members of the Board may ask questions of the applicant to clarify or better understand the case.  
The Chair will then ask for any member of the public who wishes to speak in support of the application 
to come forward and speak.  There shall be a 3 minute limit for each individual speaker and a 5 minute 
limit for a speaker who represents a group.  After hearing from those in favor of the application, the 
Chair will ask for any member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition to the application to 
come forward and speak.  After all public comments have been received the applicant shall have 3 
minutes to respond.  We ask that each speaker present their views directly to the Board and not to the 
applicant or other members of the public.  After the applicant’s final response the Chair shall close the 
public hearing.  After the hearing has been closed there shall be no further public comments.  The 
Board shall review the evidence present and the Chair shall seek a motion.  After discussion of the 
motion the Chair shall call for a vote.  In order for any motion to be approved, 4 members of the Board 
must vote for approval.  In order to allow the Board time for appropriate review, the applicant or 
applicant’s representative is required to submit relevant material to the Department of Zoning and 
Planning 10 business days prior to this hearing to be included in the staff report. The Board may accept 
additional material from the applicant or the applicant’s representative during the hearing.  However, 
large amounts of additional material may require deferral at the Board’s option on behalf of the 
applicant to allow the Board time to consider the additional material.  All members of the public and/or 
staff may also submit relevant material during the hearing. The applicant should be aware that we have 
6 members present.  If you do not think that there are enough members present tonight that will enable 
you to receive a fair hearing then you have the right to defer the hearing until another meeting, 
however you may defer the hearing for this reason only once in any 12 month period.  Deferral 
requests are granted at the sole discretion of the Board.  The applicant may also withdraw his or her 
application at any time prior to a vote to approve or deny the application provided that the applicant 
has not withdrawn a substantially similar application within the previous 12 months. Any person or 
persons who do not agree with the decision of this Board shall have 30 days to petition the Stafford 
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County Circuit Court to review our decision. Also be aware that the Board will not hear any denied 
application for a variance or special exception which is substantially the same request for at least 1 
year from the date of our decision.  I now ask that anyone who has a cell phone, pager, or other 
electronic device to please silence it.  It is the custom of this Board to require that any person who 
wishes to speak before the Board shall be administered an oath.  Therefore, I ask that anyone who 
wishes to speak tonight, to stand and raise your right hand.  Do you hereby swear or affirm that all 
testimony before this Board shall be nothing but the truth?  Thank you, please be seated.  The Chair 
asks that when you come down to the podium to speak, please first give your name and address clearly 
into the microphone so our recording secretary can have accurate record of the speakers.  Also, please 
sign the form on the table at the rear of the room.  Are there any changes or additions to the advertised 
agenda? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  There are no changes. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF DISQUALIFICATION 
 
Dr. Larson:  Before we hear the first case, does any Board member wish to make any declaration or 
statement concerning any of the cases to be heard before the Board tonight? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Mr. Chairman, I do.  On April 26 I visited the site and spoke with the owner at 25 Patriot 
Way.  I also met with the Fire Marshall’s office concerning County Ordinances pertaining to home 
storage of weapons and ammunition on April 24th.  Today I drove by 2378 Warrenton Road several 
times to view the property and surrounding area, and last I would like to recognize 2 members of our 
audience, Mr. Jim Lynch of King George County BZA, and Mr. George Spinner of the Caroline 
County BZA.  They are both here to observe for a class assignment. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Brown:  That’s it. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Heather? 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Back in 2011 I went out to the site of the second… of the Warrenton Road, I guess it’s 
SE15-04 and spoke to the owner at that time.  But that was back in 2011 when the case was (inaudible 
- microphone not on). 
  
Dr. Larson:  Any others?  Okay.  I drove by both properties.  I didn’t stop or talk with anybody, but did 
observe both properties.  Thank you.  I’ll know ask the secretary to read the first case. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
1. SE15-03/15150601 - Robert Schmatjen - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford County 

Code, Section 28-35, Table 3.1, "District Uses & Standards," PD-1 (Planned Development)  to 
allow ecommerce (Firearm Sales, transfers and accessories) as a Home Business on Assessor's 
Parcel 29C-3C-273.  The property is zoned PD-1, Planned Development, located at 25 Patriot 
Way, Austin Ridge Subdivision. 

 
Mrs. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property, and the layout 
of the area to be used for the business.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to operate a 
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home business that will consist of firearm transfer services, firearm sales, gunsmithing and the sale of 
general hunting and outdoor equipment and accessories.  The majority of this business will be sales 
through wholesale vendors who offer to ship merchandise directly to their customers.  This is known 
as drop shipment services, which will lessen the need for customers to come to his home.  But for the 
services that do require a face to face transaction, the applicant has stated that the customer visits will 
be by appointment only during the days and hours of Monday through Friday from 6:00 AM to 10:00 
PM, with no weekend hours.  The applicant states his home will be protected by a professionally 
monitored security system 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and that all firearms and supplies will be 
stored in separate locked containers within a room of the home that is secured with a deadbolt lock.  
He will provide one off-street parking to accommodate his customers.  The standards for a Home 
Business allow for a maximum of 25% of the gross floor area to be utilized for the business.  The 
applicant has indicated 150 square feet will be used for the business which meets this requirement as 
the gross floor area of the dwelling 4,000 square feet.  The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives (ATF) gave a presentation to local zoning officials explaining their permit process.  
According to their regulations the applicant must have a premise from which he conducts business or 
from which he intends to conduct business.  The business may be located in a private residence but 
must be open to the public for a person to person transfer.  Due to this requirement, the applicant must 
apply for a Special Exception for a Rural Home Business through the Board of Zoning Appeals to sell 
or transfer weapons from his or her home.  The single family dwelling was built in 2001.   
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Are there any questions for staff? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Just one.  I’m sorry.  How many parking spaces did you say he would provide? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He will need to provide one additional parking space. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, just because his application had stipulated 4. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, a few questions.  Can you reiterate what the County’s parking 
requirements are in this instance? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  For single family dwellings they are required 2 parking spaces which does not include 
the…or allow them to utilize the garage for parking, so that he will use the 2 spaces in his driveway 
and would have to, if his driveway does not accommodate the third space, he will have to include that 
third space, or construct that third space. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  In looking at the application or the letter that was provided, it seems to be a little 
bit broader than described in the staff package.  So I would note that it says, at least in the letter, 
“Transfer of firearms and ammunition in addition to other hunting, shooting, and general outdoor 
equipment, and accessories, as well as gunsmith services”.  So are we capturing all that in the 
description of what is allowable, what would potentially be allowable in the special condition as 
accepted as requested? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  We included in the ad the firearms sales, transfers, and accessories.  I do believe that 
that would include everything that has submitted within his application.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  So, again, and I’ll certainly ask the applicant this question, general outdoor equipment 
and accessories seems to be fairly broad.  I don’t know what that means.  It sound like it might be 
beyond weapons related material. 
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Mrs. Musante:  In discussion with the applicant he was talking about like camping accessories, which 
he can further elaborate on that.  The only reason that he is before you tonight is because of the 
firearms part.  If he were doing just the accessories and the online sales, he would not be in front of 
you because we could issue that as a home occupation.  It’s strictly the firearm transfers part which is 
requiring the special exception because of the foot traffic through the FFL. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay, I apologize for my confusion.  I thought that you could not do retail sales out of 
your home. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He’s not.  He’s doing it online. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So he would be selling camping equipment online… 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  … and money exchange… 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Online. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  … online with the pick up at the home. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  No.  He has them drop shipped.  They would not be coming to the home to pick up the 
equipment, but he can further elaborate on that. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Is that clear in the conditions though that he can only drop ship? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Number 5 of the conditions: The business shall not engage in the retail sales of 
merchandise on the premises, meaning merchandise must be paid for online. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right, but it doesn’t say you can’t pick it up at his house. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  It does not. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  That’s something we might want to further discuss.  The last question, and I 
guess it’s kind of to the panel itself, we’ve issued some time limits on similar requests recently, what 
was the average time limit we’ve put on these, or the verbiage that we’ve used in the last couple of 
applications or decisions? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I believe it was that it couldn’t transfer to the next owner, or expired when this owner 
vacated the property. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  And that’s what we put on this condition.  Approval of this special exception for 
firearm transfer services, firearm sales, gunsmithing and the sale of general hunting and outdoor 
equipment and accessories will expire when this applicant vacates the property and is non-transferable. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Comment.  Condition number 14, along the same line that Steve was talking about, this 
bothers me a little bit that it says, I mean, “Approval of this special exception for firearm transfer 
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services, firearm sales, gunsmithing and the sale of outdoor equipment and accessories”.  I mean that 
doesn’t say anything about e-commerce or whatever, and it’s kind of an open statement there that I feel 
like needs to be tightened up.  I would have thought we would have said something. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  These are just suggested development conditions. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I understand. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions? 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I have one question.  In the application and his letter he stated that the days and hours of 
operation were Monday through Friday, 6 PM to 10 PM, but we have 6 AM to 10 PM. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Does staff have a clarification for that? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  That appears to be a typo. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Okay good.  I just want to make sure. 
 
Dr. Larson:  So, I’m sorry, so which one is it? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  His application states 6 PM. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I did have another question.  I think I’ll save it for the applicant if I could. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for staff?  Okay, I will now open the public hearing.  Will the 
applicant or his/or her representative please come forward and present their case? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Hello everyone.  My name is Robert Schmatjen.  Thanks for your time and 
volunteering for tonight.  Primarily the business that I would like to partake in and conduct would be 
primarily e-commerce through drop shipment services of the wholesalers that I’ll be dealing with.  
There is a few that I have in mind and I’m sure there’s additional ones that I can work with, and the 
idea is that I do not have any traffic coming to the home.  The primary function of having the FFL is 
that I will be dealing with firearms that will get shipped to customers, the end user directly, without me 
being involved.  I’m simply the middleman and making a small percentage on the sale.  The FFL is 
really there in a case where a gun needs to be returned from the end user and they obviously cannot 
ship it back to the wholesaler.  It has to be shipped back to me and I have to honor that refund.  So 
that’s the key purpose for having the FFL other than the federal requirement for needing an FFL to 
conduct firearm transfers.  So when the words transfer comes up in this BZA appeal, that’s really what 
that means.  It’s not meant to suggest that I’ll be performing transfers out of my home.  I see that 
actually as a risk and I do not want foot traffic to the home and I do not want to offer that as a service.  
If there ever is any sort of gunsmithing service or other thing that I feel comfortable with a particular 
customer, that option of course is there and has to be there according to the County I understand, but 
my primary goal is not to sell anything out of the home.   
 
Dr. Larson:  Is that your entire presentation?  Are you finished? 
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Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any questions for the applicant. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I have a question.  I guess, you say gunsmithing and when I look up the definition of 
gunsmithing that’s repairs, modifies, designs, and builds guns.  So you’re possibly going to be doing 
this on guns that are returned by a customer, or come to you in the mail? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  They would come to me in the mail, and they would be folks that had reached me 
through the website that I would have, and they would ask for specific services.  Some of the services 
would be mostly refinishing of more antique type guns that need bluing or parkerizing.  So those are 
things that I do as a hobby now. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Refinishing in the sense of…  Could you just elaborate a little more?  Because when I 
think of gunsmithing I think of something that would have to be tested, and fired to ensure that it’s 
working properly. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Absolutely.  So it could include those things, but obviously I wouldn’t be testing those 
on the premises. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Okay, but what do you mean by refinishing? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So stripping the old finish.  It could be bluing or, the term is parkerize, but it’s 
basically a weatherproofing for the metal of the gun that I would strip off and then redo to make it look 
better, or to get rid of rust or other things that would cause it to be… 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Now you state that you’re going to have all weapons and ammunition in a locked safe that 
is in a room that’s dead bolted, but you still would have… or will you have your private weapons that 
could not be accessible to the general public, or… are you putting your personal weapons, I assume… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I will keep all of my personal guns separate from any customer guns that I ever have, 
but again, the primary focus of this is not to have guns very often that do not belong to me, that are not 
part of my collection, and my collection of course is locked up. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  In your home, because you state 5 days would be the longest… guns and accessories, so 
that includes your outdoor equipment and… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, ma’am, 5 days would be the longest.  Certainly would be in the case I mentioned 
earlier where there were refunds and I would either give them back to the distributer or the 
manufacturer, or whatever it was for that warranty process. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Mr. Chairman, I have several questions.   
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay. 
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Ms. Brown:  Several for you.  Will you be manufacturing any ammunition? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Manufacturing ammunition I don’t believe so, however I do reload ammunition.  So I 
don’t know… 
 
Ms. Brown:  So will you be storing like black powder or smokeless powder? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Store? Yes, currently I do have powder and all things needed to reload. 
 
Ms. Brown:  How much do you anticipate having at one time? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Powder?  Specifically?  As much as I can afford, but no, actually it’s less than 5 
pounds. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Less than 5 pounds? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes.  It’s expensive and it’s obviously a liability. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, same thing for like smokeless powder, is I think that’s what it’s called? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes it is. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay.  Alright.  Could people conceivably come to your house to return some 
merchandise?  Anybody that bought from the area, could they… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I guess they could.  Yes.  But again, I’d prefer to keep everything through shipping 
and through the website. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Because again, I see it as liability.  So in rare cases maybe, if I knew someone, 
someone was a friend that I’ve known for a while then I may would do that, but for the most part the 
business’s intent is to only be conducted electronically. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay.  Were you aware of the parking requirements that you would need an additional 
space beyond the 2 in your driveway when you applied? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So what I understood was that I would need a total of 4 spaces which I have.  I don’t 
know when you say additional, I’m not clear on the question. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well, for the rules we can’t count the garage as spaces, and the driveway would count as 
2.   
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  The driveway is only 2?  Because our driveway is… typically we… we fit 4 cars in 
the driveway. 
 
Ms. Brown:  When I visited your house you did have 3 in there, one kind of hanging off the end in 
there, but okay.  I think that’s all I have.  Thank you. 
 

Page 7 of 65 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
April 28, 2015 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Mr. Chairman? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I’m having a little bit of a trouble understanding your business model.  We’ve 
talked about a number of different things.  Now tell me exactly how do I get to know you, your 
business?  How do I know your business, and how do you sell me guns, ammunition, backpacks, 
tents…what items are you going to sell me? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So the items are… basically there is a whole seller that has a drop ship service for 
distributers, or like my business model.  I have a website that attracts people to my website, and I can 
announce sale items, and I can obviously advertise on Yahoo! or Amazon, or whoever it is, that I have 
these things for sale.  When someone comes to my website I have a catalog essentially that is with that 
distributor.  So the consumer isn’t necessarily recognizing the difference between my website and the 
distributor’s website, but I have my own connection to that, that they are allowed anything from that, 
and of course when they do, then I get the credit, the account that that sees that from is from my seller 
account.  So that wholesaler is able to dropship the equipment, charge that customer for that equipment 
and gives me the profit margin on the sale.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So you actually would never handle, physically handle a gun, or ammunition, or a tent, or 
whatever else they’re ordering? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  In a perfect world no, Sir.  But in the event that the end user would like to return that 
for some warranty situation or perhaps I honored some type of customer satisfaction to allow them to 
take that back, then of course they have to ship it back to me.  That wholesaler wouldn’t necessarily 
take it directly back from them.  So I’m the middleman for the sale.  Any sort of services afterwards 
might require me to have to get involved and actually have possession, but again, the intent is not for 
them to come to the business directly, it’s to ship everything. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So you wouldn’t have a gun sling for sale at your house, or a tent, or… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You wouldn’t have any of these things. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  The only thing you may have from a customer, or from some place, a gun that you were 
going to do some gunsmithing on or something like that? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes.  So part of that website that I would have would also offer that as a service and a 
customer could ship me whatever it was and it could just simply be a barrel, it could be a stock, and 
then you know I could offer refinishing of the stock, or whatever it is. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  One of the conditions talked about, you know, your ammunition, should we store it in 
cans with no more than 5,000 rounds. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Right. 
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Mr. Ingalls:  I understand if you were going to gunsmith you’re going to need, like my colleague said, 
you’re going to go test it.  I assume you’re going to go to a gun range and test it, so you would 
probably need some ammunition to be able to do that. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Right. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t know…why would you need 5,000 rounds at your house? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So I shoot every week and I have at least one competition.  In fact last night was a… 
every Monday night I’m part of a bull’s eye league.  So I shoot shotguns, rifles, pistols, several 
different types of both of those actually throughout the week.  So just through that I end up having 
anywhere from 300-400, 500 rounds on hand just so that I can continue to compete in those 
competitions that I do.  I sort of have a gun competition problem. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So most of your ammunition is personal use? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  It’s all for personal use. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, I assume you could still, like I said, if you’re testing somebody’s gun, I assume you 
could consider that business ammo, but you’re not going to have anywhere near 5,000 rounds? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I wouldn’t think so. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Just to talk about your days and hours of operation.  Can you enlighten me why you only 
want it from 6 PM to 10 PM and no weekends?  I mean, if I’m understanding, if you’re telling me 
exactly, if I understand what you’re telling me, you’re going to be sitting inside at some computer and 
looking at some computer screen most of your life, and I don’t know whether you’re going to be doing 
that at 2 in the afternoon or 12 midnight, and it’s hard for me to imagine, okay, the business hours I 
guess would be only if… you must realize, you must think that you could possibly have some 
customers come to the house, because you stated in your application, they would be by appointment 
only. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Right. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So I’m assuming that the hours of operation are basically, these would be the hours which 
a customer would come to my house.  Otherwise you’re going to be sitting in some little room looking 
at your computer, and I’m not going to care whether you’re looking at football scores, or whether 
you’re looking for something with work, I mean. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Sure.  So the intent here is that if this works, eventually I can replace my job with it.  I 
drive up north, as most of us do here in Stafford, and I work for a federal contractor, and this is a 
second business.  For one, obviously it’s a hobby, I think I’ve shared with you, that I am very 
enthusiastic about, and if I can make money, and eventually replace my job, then I will do that.  If it 
ever gets that far I’d certainly get a brick and mortar place and you know the home would never be part 
of the business anymore.  I would conduct all the business from there.  It’s baby steps and sort of an 
experiment if you will at this point. 
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Mr. Ingalls:  Just… have you thought about, well if my business grows and you do that, and you’ve got 
these, if we were to pass this tonight and put those hours in here, you don’t want to come back and see 
me do you? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir, but I am never home before 6 o’clock on a weekday. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  No, no, no, you know, just because you say this is my hours, I’m not telling you you got 
to work those hours, I’m not your boss.  If you were to expand and say, well maybe I am going to quit 
my job and I’m going to be home at 9 o’clock in the morning, and maybe somebody wants to come see 
me at 10 o’clock in the morning. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Sir, are you suggesting I could make them more? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I’m just trying to figure out whether you thought it all the way through and whether…you 
might want to consider whether you want to think about your hours of operation based on something 
that, you know, maybe it’s going to happen, maybe it isn’t.  But it’s my understanding so far what 
you’re business is, it is not going to be something that I’m going to know what you’re doing inside that 
house.  I wouldn’t know whether you had a business going on or not. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  That’s kind of the intent, Sir, because it’s primarily to be conducted electronically 
anyway, so hopefully I’m not having… again, I see it as a liability to have a lot of traffic in and out of 
the home for a business. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, I’m just giving you a chance to say, you know, maybe you ought to think about the 
hours, but you could always ask us to change it if that’s… we may say yes, we may say no.   
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I like the hours where they are right now, because I don’t conceive of any time in the 
near future opening it beyond those anyway.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s all Mr. Chairman. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I hadn’t thought about this before and in the previous cases either, but it 
kind of came up during the course of the conversation this evening, both in terms of the ammunition 
and the gun powder, and storage of that.  I hadn’t really thought about if there were a fire, 
unintentional or otherwise, at the applicant’s house, and I’m not trying to suggest that there be stronger 
requirements than you would have if you didn’t have a business, but I guess I’m asking you if you had 
ammunition, several thousand rounds, and/or gun powder, would you not put them in a fire proof 
container.  Should we not be a little bit more specific about what kind of containers they should be in?  
Again, if there were a fire, not just in terms of how it might impact you, but you do live in a 
neighborhood with other people and I just… something goes bang, it could impact your neighbors.  So, 
just from your professional experience, when you store ammunition and/or gunpowder, we’re not 
talking about coffee cans, I mean, should there be something more concrete than just saying they need 
to be in cans? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I had discussed this with the fire marshal and if you would like to, we could discuss that 
when we have our discussion, because they did have some suggestions about that. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Brown:  If we’re interested. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I guess the one thing I’m asking, it speaks to ammunition, I think of rounds, gun rounds 
is ammunition, and gunpowder separately is from ammunition, so you wouldn’t have the problem if 
we added the words gunpowder in terms of how that needs to be stored as well? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So I’m assuming we’re talking about storing it in the same type of… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Some kind of storage at your house that we… because it doesn’t speak to it in the 
proposed conditions.  I’m sure you’ve seen those, but again, your business model could change.  You 
may not have gunpowder now, but you might have gunpowder later, not sure how much.  
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I would say that the gunpowder is separate from the business anyway.  It’s not, I 
mean, it’s for my personal use so… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  So you wouldn’t have reason to exchange gunpowder with any clients? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Again, I sort of lightheartedly joked about it, that I was buying as much as I could 
afford, but that’s simply because the prices have gone up so high lately, that… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Well, I appreciate you clarifying that.  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant?  I have one.  Guns and accessories shall be stored 
for no longer than 5 days.  Does that… is there any problem if there is a holiday and 2 weekend days, 
and, I mean, do you mean 5 business days, or are you seriously saying 5 days? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  5 business days, which for me are Monday through Friday, would be fine, and thanks 
for that consideration, but again, I don’t expect to have one for any longer than as long as it takes me to 
ship it back out to, to conduct whatever warranty situation needs to be conducted. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Any other questions for the applicant?  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Thank you for your time. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in support of the application please come 
forward.  Seeing none.  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition to the 
application, please come forward.   
 
Mr. Starkey:  Good evening ladies and gentleman.  My name is John A. Starkey and I’d like to thank 
you for this opportunity to express to you my opposition to this exception to the rule.  I live in a 
neighborhood and there is plenty of children.  It’s a nice, quiet neighborhood, it’s a residential 
neighborhood.  I bought a home in that neighborhood because it was a residential neighborhood.  If I 
wanted to live in the city, I would have moved further north.  I think it’s the wrong, I think it would be 
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a very bad decision to start making exceptions to have guns and weapons stored in our neighborhood.  
I’m from northern Jersey and I assure you that if you check the statistics, time and time and time again 
for the 65 years I’ve been on this planet a primary target for narco-terrorists are gun shops, and now 
you’re giving… you may… you have the right to give this gentleman permission to put one in my 
neighborhood.  I think that’s foolhardy.  Businesses have a place in business districts.  Residents have 
a place in residential neighborhoods.  I’m really concerned that this soft target, this gentleman’s house 
would be a prime target for any wackadoodle, drug-dealing, crazy person that roams up and down I-95.  
I’m very concerned about our neighborhood and what it would do for the value of our property, if 
people knew, hey, do you know the guy down the block sells weapons, and, you know he has 5,000 
rounds of ammo?  The basic round for a Vietnam veteran was 16 to 18 M-16 clips.  That’s 18 rounds 
per clip.  He’s got enough to supply some 14 or 15 soldiers.  That’s a heck of a lot of ammo, and I 
assure you it’s not something that I want in my neighborhood, and I guarantee it’s not something that 
you would want in your neighborhood.  Gentlemen, ladies, thank you very much for this time.  Have a 
pleasant evening. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you, Mr. Starkey.  Would anybody else like to speak in opposition to the 
application?  Does the applicant wish to respond or add additional information? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I can understand the concerns which is essentially why I think it’s a liability to open 
this to having a whole of knowledge and foot traffic into what I am doing in the business.  Again, the 
fundamental purpose is to keep it electronic and to not have a lot of advertising of what this business 
conducts.  So I don’t want to get into any sort of argument with anyone.  I understand his concern, and 
I share some of the same concerns as well, but I fully want to be responsible and conduct this in a way 
that it’s not a liability or concern to myself or my neighbors. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Questions for the applicant?  Thank you, Sir. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  We will now close the public hearing for this application and bring the matter back to the 
Board for motions and decision. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, before anyone makes a motion, can we walk through the proposed 
conditions and maybe talk about any modifications to each one? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Sounds like a reasonable idea. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’ll start on condition 1, assuming there might be potential approval, days and hours of 
operation, Monday through Friday, to correct the typo to 6 PM to 10 PM, and no weekend hours.  So 
just changing AM to PM.  I have a suggestion on number 3, I’ve kind of said this during other requests 
for retail home use proposed special exceptions, just to clarify, when it says customers by appointment 
with only one customer at a time. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So you would say that’ll be customers by appointment only, maximum 1 customer per 
visit? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes, Sir. 
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Mr. Apicella:  On number… I don’t want to skip around, I mean if somebody has something in the 
middle…Dana? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I wanted to talk about the parking.  I actually had a question for staff on that.  Could he 
use the driveway for 4 parking spaces? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He can, because he’s only required 2 for the single family dwelling, so if he has 4 
spaces in his existing driveway, he can utilize that existing driveway for the additional spaces. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well, his driveway is not 4 spaces wide.  He doesn’t have a 3-car garage.  It’s a 2-car 
garage with… I didn’t think it was that long of a driveway, but it is a little longer than most, so he 
would be able to utilize that? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He can.  Yes. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  So, if there’s no change there, I’m going to go to number 9.  I think I heard Mr. Ingalls 
suggest that the number of round be reduced.  I don’t know what number he was thinking of.  Did you 
have a number in mind? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’d like to not do that.  Based on my conversation with the fire marshal, he thought it 
would be very easy to get to 5,000 rounds.  He said that really wouldn’t take up a lot of room.  He 
explained it to me as, you know, shoeboxes or stuff in rounds of 100 and you know, times 5, it’s 
really… it’s not as much as it sounds.  It sounded like a whole lot to me, but he assured me that it 
really wasn’t that much. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And did he have any recommendations on the type of containers they should be in? 
 
Ms. Brown:  He said it needed to be properly stored.  We do have Chapter 56 of State Fire Prevention 
Code.  It talks about how to store and it also talks about how much black powder, smokeless powder 
that you can keep for personal use.  There wasn’t anything for commercial use, but the personal use it 
was not to exceed 50 pounds of black powder, which I think he said he wouldn’t have that much, or 
not to exceed 100 pounds of smokeless powder, and I don’t think he was going to have anything like 
that.  And if it was going to be kept outside, it needed to be in a shed 10 feet away.  The one thing that 
we did talk about, that I thought was germane, was it might not be a bad idea, if he’s going to have all 
this stuff stored at the home, that he can contact the 911 dispatch center, the non-emergency number 
part of it, and he can have his address flagged for firemen, that he has explosive ammunition at his 
home.  So at least, if there’s a fire in the home, that the firemen coming in can know ahead of time that 
he does have some of this stuff there.  So that’s an option that we might want to consider adding to the 
conditions, that he notify the 911 center. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  But in terms of the containers themselves, no recommendation about what that needs to 
be? 
 
Ms. Brown:  We would have to go back and read the Code.  He just said properly stored. 
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Mr. Ingalls:  I’m assuming a can, like you said, that’s not a coffee can.  Is it some kind of special can 
that prevents explosion, or heat protected, or something?  Is that what a can is?  I mean we’ve seen that 
word… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I know, and I really hadn’t thought about it until tonight. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I thought it must be some type of protective can, not a coffee can, but I don’t know. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  But anytime you leave something up for interpretation… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know, it says can and it could be a coffee can.  I don’t know what the proper term would 
be.  Would the applicant what the proper term for it would be? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Maybe we can ask him how he stores it. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So typically ammo is stored in ammunition cans that are used for military transports 
and those are available at gun shows.  I have several of them in my home that I keep the stuff in, and it 
protects it from fire, and obviously water, and other things as well.  And it would, I’m assuming, 
because it’s pretty standard practice to store ammunition that way, that it last for at least as long as it 
would take the fire department to get there and put out the fire. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So would you have any problem with adding the word fireproof ammunition can? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Surplus ammo can is the… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Surplus ammo can? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  … the typical term, but no, I’d have no problem with that. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  The term “fire proof”, especially when you get into the fire code, is a whole different set 
of criteria.  The cans he’s referring to, the ammunition cans, are not fire proof. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Not even close. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  They’re just metal cans, there to protect the ammunition.  Keep it from damage to the 
can, or to the ammunition, more than anything else.  So I think we need to stay away from the word 
fire proof, unless we’re talking about adding fire proof safes to every one of these special exceptions 
where someone’s coming in to store ammunition and then we need to discuss whether or not it applies 
to only the ammunition that he is storing as it relates to the business and not his personal ammunition.  
Because his personal ammunition is not subject to any of the requirements of the special exception. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right.  Well, it does say under 12 that you’ve got… the applicant has to comply with 
state, federal, and local codes.  So there is a fire code requirement, I’d imagine that would capture it.  
But what I would suggest then, given the conversations, ammunition shall be stored in surplus 
ammunition cans with no more than a total of 5,000 rounds for commercial use and separate from the 
firearms containers. 
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Mr. Grimes:  Again, the word surplus is that this made, and we’d have to clarify surplus what?  Is it 
military surplus, is it commercial surplus?  There are different standards and different qualifications for 
those.  So commercially manufactured ammunition can be purchased brand new, which is not surplus. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m kind of grasping at straws here, so if you have a suggestion… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If you have a suggestion on what we should call it… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  All I’m trying to do is get away from the notion that you could hypothetically put the 
ammunition in coffee cans and stick them in your garage. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Right, and I think… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  That might not be the best business practice, but possible if we don’t clarify it. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Why don’t we say a commercial, like something to the effect of a commercially 
manufactured, you know, surplus ammo can?  Or ammo storage facility?  I mean, I’m trying to figure 
some legal use here, but… 
 
Dr. Larson:  I have a question for the applicant.  Are the ammunition cans, which it seems the ones that 
I’ve seen are green, and they’re rectangular, and they’re kind of heavy metal, and…okay…is there a 
term for that other than ammunition can? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  All I’ve heard of is surplus ammunition cans, but it refers to it coming from the 
military.  They sell it to the public.  It doesn’t really define what it does or what its intent is. 
 
Dr. Larson:  But if we said ammunition can rather than just the word can, wouldn’t the normal person 
associated with guns know what that meant? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I think one would reasonably conclude that that’s what that meant, Sir.   
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If we said military, if we said military ammunition cans, does that make it clearer, or not 
so clear? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Seems clear to me, Sir, but… 
 
Dr. Larson:  What do you call… I mean, I’ve seen them, I know what they are, but what do you call 
them? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I call them ammo cans. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Can I ask a quick question too of the applicant? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Sure. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Were you planning on storing that in that room in the basement you took me to?  He has, 
down in his basement, he has a windowless room that he has stored all his equipment in.  He has a, 
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look like, heavy duty, metal gun case, you know, with locks and heavy vault like looking thing.  Is that 
where you’re going to be storing? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So that room was specifically the room that I’ve allocated for the business itself.  I 
don’t have any of my personal stuff in there that I store or collect or anything like that. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Would you be able to put these gun cases in that big cabinet that you had against the 
wall? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes. 
 
Dr. Larson:  You mean the ammunition case? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yes, it looked like a big vault.  I didn’t have him open it, but it looked like a safe. 
 
Dr. Larson:  How big is your safe? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  84 by 42 by 26 inches wide.  
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Approximately. 
 
Dr. Larson:  And you’re going to store the guns that you have.  I understand most of your business is 
going on over the internet. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Should I get one. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Should you get… okay, and the ammunition that you have also gets stored in that safe? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So if I were to have ammunition as part of the business, that’s where I would put it, 
but again, I don’t think that’ll I be dealing in ammunition. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Do you remember the fire rating on the safe? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I suspect that your personal ammunition storage outweighs anything you’d ever have for 
the business, correct? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Absolutely, Sir. 
 
Dr. Larson:  But we’re allowing him a total of no more than 5,000 rounds for the business. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I was just going to say, in the room, in the basement, this is a humidity controlled, or 
environmentally controlled room, or is it… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Not so much. 
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Mrs. Stefl:  Not so much.  So it does vary in hotness and cold? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So it uses the same environmental that the rest of the home uses. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Okay, so it’s not separate.  That’s what I’m just trying to grasp, because I wasn’t there to 
see the basement. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So, after that discussion I’m going to give it another shot here.  Ammunition shall be 
stored in ammunition cans with no more than a total of 5,000 rounds for commercial use, and shall be 
separate from the firearms containers.  And that last part is consistent with what we’ve said in the past.  
On number 11, I would add the word “business” after “five”.  And I kind of jumped around a little bit.  
I think under number 5 we need to somehow clarify, again, given the business model, that they’re not 
going to be not only selling stuff out of the home, but picking up from the home weapons and 
ammunition.   
 
Dr. Larson:  I think what you’re getting at is the fifth condition that we’re talking about, the business 
shall not engage in the retail sales of merchandise on the premises, meaning merchandise must be paid 
for online.  Do you understand then that you cannot take money on your premises and make a sales on 
your premises? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, absolutely. 
 
Dr. Larson:  All the sales will take place online. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Transactions will be all electronic.  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  That doesn’t clarify it.  We’ve treated gun transfers a little bit differently.  We haven’t 
talked about other sales out of the home.  So we’re getting sort of back into this e-commerce issue of 
just because somebody transfers money electronically, it still goes back to the foot traffic issue of 
people, customers picking up that product at the individual’s home.  So, you know, that’s kind of a 
different issue with firearm sales and we kind of had this conversation and used the term vacuum 
cleaners again.  Somebody sells vacuum cleaners out of their home, they might actually have the 
transaction occur online, but do we really want a lot of traffic at that individual’s home where they’ve 
got the product and they’re trying to get it to the individual customer.  So this is different in the context 
of it’s not just weapons transfers, also selling outdoor equipment and, you know, could have a tent sale 
out of his house.  Not saying you would, I’m just saying we got to be clear that, again, the purpose of 
this approach is, we need to, again, clarify that retails sales is not just a matter of exchanging money, 
but how the product gets picked up. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Right.  Number 3 is “customers are by appointment, one at a time” correct?  Is that what 
you’re talking about? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  The Stafford County Code doesn’t want people to sell products out of their house.  It 
prohibits retail sales as a home business.  Okay?  We’ve allowed sort of this grey area as it relates to 
gun transfers.  Now we’re getting closer into the issue of e-commerce and selling products beyond gun 
transfers, and so I’m concerned about what this particular situation being expansion it just so happens 
to involve gun transfers, but now we’re getting to other products beyond gun transfers. 
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Mrs. Stefl:  But my understanding is that the ATF requires the person to come in person and present 
their driver’s license so he cannot avoid, he has to have… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mrs. Stefl, I’m not talking about guns. I’m talking about the other products… 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Right, but… 
 
Mr. Apicella: … that he wants to sell.  A tent has nothing to do with federal fire arms requirements, 
or… 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I understand that, but I… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  … or licenses.  He could sell, you know, donuts out of his house… 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Right. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  … the bottom line is, we’re trying to avoid the issue of allowing by virtue of a special 
exception retails sales that are not allowed under the County Code. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  But my understanding from the applicant, he wasn’t going to allow customers to come to 
his home, only the firearm transfer customers. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Or a return. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Or return, was my understanding.  If I misunderstood, I’m sorry.  Is that true? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, ma’am.   
 
Ms. Brown:  I’ve got the definition from our Code for home business.  It says “An occupation, 
profession, business or trade, with the exception of retail sales.  So… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And again, I think when you look at 5 and 14, it presents a little bit of a grey area.  This 
is going back to Larry’s point, that… the sale of outdoor equipment... 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We’re going down a slippery slope of e-commerce.  I can go to his house, and I’m going 
to say, I’m going to buy that.  And I say “Here, here is my… I got 50 bucks.  Here it is.”  “No, I can’t 
take the money.  You got to pay online.” “Oh, okay.”  I’m standing right there in front of him.  I can 
pay it online.  Now he’s satisfied.  I’m satisfied.  We’re going down the road.  Is that e-commerce? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir. You cannot take that away from my home.  I have to ship it to you.  And then 
that’s e-commerce. 
 
Ms. Brown:  It’s like the Tupperware lady.  Okay?  She sells Tupperware and ships it out. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You would not… and I know your business model is there would be nothing there that 
you would have physically to sell.  Because you’re not touching it, unless it’s returned, it sounds like. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Right.  I’m the middleman from the whole seller to the end user. 
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Mr. Ingalls:  I still say the e-commerce thing is a… paying online… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Can you deny someone that wants to buy something to come to your house with your 
firearms license?  If they want to say I want to come pick it up, you don’t have it at your premises, so 
would you order it and have it shipped to you, so they can pick it up, or no? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Hm, I’d… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, so the only thing that you’re going to accept in your house is a return?  Is that 
pretty much it? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  That’s the idea. 
 
Ms. Brown:  And you would have to provide a refund at that time? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  So, I say that, but if my brother, who lives in Stafford, wants to buy something, then 
potentially I would transfer it to him, but no, the business is not designed and I do not want the liability 
of folks coming to my house. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I mean, but you need to keep large amounts of cash?  Would you be doing a refund on the 
spot, or would it be an online, you know? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Refunds would certainly be online, back to the credit card. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Would that be stipulated on your websites, that all refunds will be credited back to your 
credit card? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, there will never be cash. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m going to go back to the last part of the sentence under number 5 which implies that 
it’s not a retail sale, as long as it is paid for online.  And that’s my problem.  We’re redefining what 
retail sales is by virtue of this one sentence.  I don’t think it’s the intent.  As Larry just indicated, 
irrespective of your application, this is kind of a bigger issue than you, we’ve been grabbling with this 
for a while, and you know, every application that’s in front of us, we get smarter every single time.  
We try to adjust and make changes, and it kind of guides the next application.  So, yours is a little bit 
different as it goes, again, beyond gun transfers and gunsmithing.  It’s talking about selling other kinds 
of items.  And the way that we’ve captured here is, we would allow you, and potentially the next 
person who comes in, because I think we’re setting a precedent here by saying as long as you’re 
paying for the item online, in theory, that person can come to your house and pick up merchandise.  
That’s not what I think our Code allows for, and I think we’re kind of circumventing that by virtue of 
the way the condition is written here.  I don’t have a fix for it.  I’m just saying, it creates a problem for 
me.  And we’ve talked about this.  I’ve talked about it here.  I’ve talked about it at the Planning 
Commission level.  I’m not trying to make it harder.  The Board can certainly decide they want to 
allow retail sales out of people’s homes, but for the moment, it’s not allowed. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m not going to worry about precedent, because I think, as I just learned in class, every 
case is unique, so I don’t want to be afraid to do something because we’re setting a precedent.  Just to 
throw that out there. 
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Mr. Schmatjen:  So I could offer a suggestion to number 5, Sir.  And that would be that if whether or 
not an item is paid for online or not, the item is never to be picked up in the home.  I would agree to 
that stipulation.  The intent is not for folks to be picking things up from the home.  So I would ship 
them to the end customer.  If for example you came to my home and wanted to buy something, I would 
say, I’m sorry, but that’ll be at your home in 2 days. 
 
Ms. Brown:  The gunsmithing though is a service that you would do at the home and take money for.  
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I would do the service at home, but again, I would ship the product back to the 
customer. 
 
Ms. Brown:  So if I came to you and wanted to get my gun serviced, I couldn’t drop it off at your 
house and pay you? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No, I guess not. 
 
Ms. Brown:  So I have to ship it to you? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  But I probably would never talk to you about it, because the only way I would take a 
quote is through the website, so… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, but I may look for one in Stafford County, versus shipping my gun off somewhere. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Oh.  Yeah, so I don’t intend to offer my address on the website so to speak.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  So I’m just thinking of a way forward, which is meaning merchandise must be paid for 
online and not picked up at the residence. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I understand where you’re coming from Steven and I think (inaudible - microphone not 
on). 
 
Dr. Larson:  Melody, does the Code define retail sales? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  No it does not. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I didn’t think so. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  What did Ms. Brown just read us? 
 
Ms. Brown:  That was the definition of a home business.  From our Code. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Home business says retail sales can occur (inaudible - microphone not on). 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  So why don’t we say… 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Why would we define it?  Why would we go out and define that and we can certainly add 
drop off meaning (inaudible - microphone not on). 
 
Ms. Brown:  There’ll be no store front. 
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Mr. Grimes:  (Inaudible - microphone not on). 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Or stockpiling or, you know, stocking of merchandise on premises. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t have a problem if he stocks merchandise.  The issue, again, is the customer-
seller-interaction at the home. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  So how about, all transactions must be shipped to and from customer? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I kind of like what Robert was going with. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Can you say it again? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Business shall not engage in retail sales of merchandise on premises and all merchandise 
will be shipped. 
 
Ms. Brown:  And paid for online? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Or merchandise will not be picked up at the residence.  I mean, do we care if he throws it 
in the back of his trunk and delivers it in the Target parking lot? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Not at all. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, can we add that it’s all paid for online?  So we’re not doing money exchanges at 
the door? 
 
Dr. Larson:  I would insist that that stay on there.  Merchandise has to be paid for online. 
 
Ms. Brown:  All merchandise must be paid for online, or electronically.  How about that? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So again, one more shot at this, “The business shall not engage in retail sales of 
merchandise on the premises period.  Merchandise must be paid for online and may not be picked up at 
the residence.” 
 
Ms. Brown:  Good. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Beautiful. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And again, I think that will help guide us in the future as well. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Thank you.  Well, can we go back to number 11 and…we talked about the 5 days was 
going to be 5 business days or 5 calendar days, what did we decide on that? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I recommended business after the number 5.  May I ask that staff work us back through 
all the conditions? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Wait a minute, wait a minute.  Can we talk about the one the fire marshal talked about, 
about notifying the 911 dispatch center, that there is explosive… yeah, what did he call it… hazardous 
materials on site.  Just to give the firemen a heads-up.   
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Mr. Apicella:  So would that be a new number 10 maybe? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, that would… well 15. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Well, it should go before 14. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Just, just, you know… I don’t care where it goes. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Not that I oppose that, but we all have hazmat on site in all of our houses.  So what do 
they define hazmat as? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well we were specifically talking about bullets, because we were talking about 
ammunition, and powder, and… 
 
Dr. Larson:  I have ammunition at my house. 
 
Ms. Brown:  But if he’s going to be storing it in large quantities. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay, so now we’re starting with a definition that I can maybe deal with.  Can you define 
large quantities? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I don’t know what he’s going to have there at any one time.  I don’t… if you limit him to 
5,000 rounds, that’s what he’s going to have for that.  We didn’t talk about any limits on the black 
powder or the smokeless powder or anything like that.  He says he won’t be able to afford a lot for 
commercial use, but, I don’t know, he’s got one room down in the basement that’s going to have 
possibly exploding bullets, possibly black powder.  I think, I mean is it a big deal to put that onto his 
address so when they come out they know? 
 
Dr. Larson:  I don’t know.  I’m just trying to clarify what you mean. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I just want to give the firemen a heads-up that there could be a lot of exploding 
ammunition. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I would also offer that if he starts hitting certain limits for any of these, the Code takes 
effect on what he’s required to do.  Fireproofing the rooms, sprinkler systems, there’s a lot of built in 
requirements, and the fact that we require him to comply with all local and state codes, there’s going to 
be protections in place.  If he starts getting beyond the limits of what the code says he’s allowed to do.  
And if I remember from the presentation that we had, that was a significant amount, I mean in the tens 
of thousands of rounds before any of those codes kicked in. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Can I ask the staff what would be the requirement for a brick and mortar type gun and 
ammo store in the sense of, do they have to notify, you know, fire and police and have that, in essence, 
marked on them? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  We would not have any idea what the requirements are.  I know, we did go to one site 
at Potomac Creek Industrial Park, and when you pull up to their building, they have this triangle thing 
that’s got three different colors on it, and that does tell, it didn’t tell me anything, but it tells I guess the 
fire guys that something is on the inside, but we’re talking about a warehouse that’s got who knows 
how much material in there. 
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Mrs. Stefl:  But there ultimately must be a trip of when he or she has to then put that notification on. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  I do not know what that is. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m actually looking.  Because when I did a little research, you can go to the ATF 
website, and you can put in ZIP codes and counties, and you can find out who has firearms licenses in 
the area, and we had 88 in Stafford or Fredericksburg that I counted, and you can print them all out, 
and they’re designated with a code, I think it’s 1 through 11, of the type of hazard.  And right now 
can’t seem to… here it is.  Actually right here.  Okay, it’s type 1 through 11, and most of the ones in 
Stafford, most of them are type 1, which is a dealer in firearms other than destructive devices and 
includes gunsmith.  So I was thinking you would fall under category 1.  The other ones, we have a 
couple sprinkled around that are 7s, which are manufacturers of firearms other than destructive 
devices.  So yes, there is the grades, the colors.  When I talked to the fire marshal, typically when they 
go into a residential home, they have no idea.  They’re going in blind.  So if we know that there’s 
going to be stuff stored in there, because we don’t know for the average citizen what they have, but if 
we certainly know there’s going to be hazardous stuff in there, I don’t see what harm it would be, so 
that the firemen know when they go out there for the call. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I’m just worried about, are we setting precedent for other homeowners too.  Like you said, 
you know, you have ammo at your house.  I have ammo at my home.  Do I need to start notifying the 
fire… I think we’re starting a slippery slope here. 
 
Ms. Brown:  No, I wasn’t suggesting that at all.  We’re granting an exception to use permit here and 
we know for sure he’s going to have this stuff here.  I don’t know that you’re going to have it or not, 
but he’s going to have it as part of a business.  That’s different in my opinion. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I don’t know.  I think a lot of people have a business supply of ammo, and guns, and 
hazmat material, so… 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yeah, I think that might be the purpose for item 9… 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I like her thought, but I don’t know… 
 
Dr. Larson:  … stored in ammo cans, no more than 5,000 rounds.  If we think that’s too much we 
should address that number, but I think the purpose of that is to allay some of these concerns you’re 
talking about. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  (Inaudible - microphone not on). 
 
Ms. Brown:   I’m fine with the 5,000 too. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  It’s the storage, proper storage is all I would want. 
 
Ms. Brown:  If he’s going to store it in that case in that case, I’m comfortable with that.  I saw it.  It 
looks very secure. 
 
Dr. Larson:  How much gunpowder were you talking about storing? 
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Mr. Schmatjen:  Again, that would only be for personal use, but no more than 5 pounds. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I’m just taking about for your business. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Don’t plan on it for the business, but I would say okay, 5 pounds for that as well. 
 
Ms. Brown:  That’s way under the personal use guidelines.  So he’s fine there. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I don’t… I have a little trouble whether I’m going to broadcast everybody that has 
all these things, I’m not sure that somebody else isn’t doing the same search you’re doing and saying, 
wow, this house has this kind of stuff, maybe we want to visit him. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well I did look up some of these homes and actually they are advertising on the web, and 
they are providing their address.  There is another one in Austin Ridge, right around the corner from 
you.  I don’t know that they’re… I didn’t look at the website very hard, I don’t know that they’re 
selling other than firearms.  But they are certainly advertising it with address.  So I don’t know if 
they’re having people come to the house or not.  I think that special exception in the early 2000s, I 
mean, they’ve had it for a long time.  And the other ones that I looked up, they didn’t seem to be in a 
PD-1 neighborhood.  That was the only one.  The other ones seemed to be more rural.  I’m okay with 
most of it, I just don’t see any harm in notifying the fire department.  When they go out on a call, 
they’ve got a fire at his house, that they know, because he’s not going to have the yellow triangles out 
front, that they know that there’s hazardous stuff in there.  Yes, for the average person we don’t know, 
but he’s got a special exception and we know he has a business out of there.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t believe we even notify the Sherriff’s Department when we do this, do we?  Which 
I always thought was kind of funny that we don’t even talk to the Sherriff’s Department to say, oh by 
the way, we’re approving a firearms transfer person in this particular house, but we don’t tell our 
Sherriff’s department that that’s taking place. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well my concern in calling them was I was worried about how the bullets would be 
stored.  Exploding bullets, would that affect the neighbors?  The homes are kind of close over there.  
And with that, you know, put our firemen in unnecessary harm, because they would walk into a 
situation where there was clustered ammunition.  That is why I talked to them. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  You know, I think there is some merit to the point that this is not in an agricultural area.  
It’s in a residential community.  That may be kind of the line of demarcation.  
 
Dr. Larson:  Yeah, that’s a very good point, and just to emphasize what he’s talking about.  The 
previous FFL and firearm sales, and ammunition sales approvals that this Board has made, have all 
been, what was it, agricultural districts, much larger lots.  This is a neighborhood.  On the other hand 
he has restricted what he intends to do very tightly, much more tightly than the other permits that 
we’ve given in the past, so, but again, you’re absolutely right, this is, although it’s allowed here I think, 
this neighborhood is constructed just like mine, in a residential area.  Good point. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  I don’t know if this is going to help matters or make them worse, but my husband 
happens to be a captain at the Quantico Fire Department and I asked him what they did when they 
come across a house that has large amounts of ammo, and he said they have seen the fire trucks being 
hit by the ammunition and that they should truthfully should be stored in some kind of a fire container 
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so the ammo does not go off, if the house does catch on fire.  I don’t know… he said they have come 
up on a fire where the ammo has been going off, and they don’t go in, they’ll let the house burn.  
 
Dr. Larson:  Is your ammo stored in a safe?  No?  You said you have a large safe, correct? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I have a large locking cabinet, yes. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Locking cabinet?  Ah, so it’s not actually a safe with a combination on it, and… 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  It has that, but it’s not a fire rated for ammunition type storage. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Is it a fireproof gun safe? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I guess so.  Yeah, but I don’t know what the fireproof rating is. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well I don’t know what…I mean most gun safes, well some of them I guess you can buy 
with just a lock on it.  They give you different ratings. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I’m not sure what mine is. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  But he said, you know, it sounds like…some people could have 5,000 rounds of 
ammunition in the house just for the pleasure of shooting or whatever. 
 
Mr. Brown:  Yes and our poor firemen walk in there and they have no idea what they’re walking into, 
and yes, my neighbor could have it that lives 20 feet from me and I can have exploding bullets flying 
into my bedroom, because we don’t know, but I’m just saying, we do know, and it is a business, and 
we are granting a special exception.  I would just like to add that.  I don’t have a problem with him 
having the business. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Just for sake of assisting firemen, I used to be a volunteer fireman and I don’t have the 
time to do that anymore, but I’d be happy to call 9-1-1, well not 9-1-1, the 9-1-1 folks and let them 
know just for the firemen safety.  So whether or not we actually make that a stipulation, I’m doing that 
anyway. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So since he’s willing to do that, we can address it next time, whether or not it’s 
something we want to continue to do, but since he’s willing to do it, I don’t see a problem adding it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Maybe staff could research that for us next time we have something like this, and talk to 
9-1-1, and just, do they really want to know it.  Does the fire department really want to know it?  Does 
the sheriff’s department really want to know whatever we’re doing over here, so we’re not doing it in a 
vacuum.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  No, I think that’s a good point.  We should talk to public safety folks and see what they 
would prefer.  So can we add that then as the number… a new number 13, moving what is 13 to 14. 
 
Dr. Larson:  What would you like to add exactly? 
 
Ms. Brown:  The 9-1-1 dispatch center will be notified so they can notate his address, that there is 
hazardous materials on the premises.  Or we could say ammunition or gunpowder. 
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Mr. Apicella:  How about if we say ammunition/gunpowder of a potentially high volume? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You said number 1 was… what did it say, number 1?  You said you looked him up and 
level 1 was… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Oh, uhm. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Gunsmithing and something. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, I don’t know what level he’s applying for. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t neither. 
 
Ms. Brown: These are the levels right there.  But he is going to be having ammunition on the premises.  
We are going to let him store up to 5,000 rounds.  He admits he’s going to have black powder and 
smokeless powder.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I mean, he’s really not a dealer in firearms per se. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I don’t know.  Again, I don’t know which level he is.  Which level will you be?  What’s 
your firearms license? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  I’ve applied for level 1. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Level 1, okay. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  And I’ve also applied for, I believe it’s for level 3, for just in case I want to do 
gunsmithing that requires any serial numberisation of a receiver.   
 
Ms. Brown:  Level 3 is collector of curios and relics. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  Okay, then I’m mistaken. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Level 1 includes gunsmithing. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Well I think that the classifications are for the hazmat material classification. 
 
Ms. Brown:  No, it’s federal firearms license. 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  But none of what I’ve asked to do necessitates me storing any large amounts of 
powder or ammunition for that matter. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, I’m not going to fall on my sword for this, but I would like to add it on if he’s 
willing, I’d like to do that.  I’m not going to vote against it for that, but I don’t see any harm in adding 
that. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I’m sorry, what would you like to add? 
 
Ms. Brown:  About the notifying the dispatch center. 
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Mrs. Musante:  Mr. Chair? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Can we add that to condition number 12? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I don’t know, because I don’t think it’s a state law. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Well it says “The applicant shall comply with all state, federal, and local codes and 
regulations for the operation of this home business” to include notifying the local fire departments 
regarding this home business.   
 
Ms. Brown:  Well, I don’t think they want to know there’s a home business.  I think they want to know 
that there’s hazardous material.  Well, can I make a motion to approve? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think we were going to walk through one more time just so we’re on the same page, 
what the revised conditions would be. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Number 1: Days and hours of operation:  Monday through Friday 6:00 PM to 10:00 
PM with no weekend hours.  Number 2:  Provide 1 additional off-street parking space for clients.  
Number 3: Customers by appointment only with only 1 customer at a time.  Number 4: All weapons 
will be locked in separate containers that are secure and located within a room of the home that is 
secured with a deadbolt lock.  Number 5: The business shall not engage in the retail sales of 
merchandise on the premises.  Merchandise must be paid for online and may not be picked up at the 
residence.  Number 6: Firearms shall be purchased only by special order.  Number 7: Applicant shall 
maintain professionally monitored security system.  Number 8: No sign shall be erected on the 
property indicating a business is being conducted on the premises.  Number 9: Ammunition shall be 
stored in ammunition cans with no more than a total of 5,000 rounds for commercial use and shall be 
separate from the firearms containers.  Number 10: Discharging of firearms on site shall be prohibited.  
Number 11:  Guns and accessories shall be stored for no longer than 5 business days.  Number 12:  
The applicant shall comply with all State, Federal, and local codes and regulations for the operation of 
this home business to include notifying the local fire department regarding the storage of ammunition.  
Number 13: This approval may be revoked for noncompliance of the conditions imposed by the Board 
of Zoning Appeals.  Number 14: Approval of this Special Exception for Firearm transfers, firearm 
sales, gunsmithing and sale of outdoor equipment and accessories will expire when this applicant 
vacates the property and is non-transferable. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Do you think any of these conditions are unreasonable in your view? 
 
Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman?  I make a motion for approval of SE15-03/15150601 with the modified 
conditions as just read. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I second that. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any discussion on the motion? 
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Mr. Apicella:  I think we noodled this quite a bit.  What I would say though is, I would congratulate the 
applicant in producing a very strong application.  The letter really covered most of the bases other than 
a few grey areas, but all the applications that have been in front of us, I think this is one of the better 
ones.  And I would also reiterate that, a couple of things, number 1, we have approved other gun 
transfer applications over the past year additionally, and I appreciate concerns raised by residents in the 
area, but I would offer that, again, individuals can have guns in their homes at high volume, and I don’t 
think this necessarily puts the residents at any further risk than would otherwise be a private use in the 
area with the same number of weapons and ammunition. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other discussion on the motion?  Hearing none, all those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Any opposed?  Motion carries.  Thank you, Sir. 
 
2. SE15-04/15150614 – Chandergupt S. Bajwa - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford 

County Code, Section 28-35, Table 3.1 "District Uses & Standards," A-1, Agricultural, to allow 
electrical contracting as a Rural Home Business on Assessor's Parcel 34-43.  The property is 
zoned A-1, Agricultural, located at 2378 Warrenton Road. 

 
Dr. Larson:  Next case. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  You have the application, application affidavit, plat of the property, copy of the 
violation notice, and copy of the denial letter dated February 4th, 2011.  The applicant is requesting a 
Special Exception to operate an electrical construction company as a Rural Home Business.  Requested 
days and hours of operation are from 6:00 AM to 6:00 PM seven days per week.  The applicant is 
requesting parking for up to 8 vehicles.  He indicates he will only have 1 part time employee on site 
during the day to provide technical support to the field staff as needed.  The employees report directly 
to the job site but on occasion will need to come to the applicant’s home to pick up or drop of 
equipment, tools, etc.  Home Business standards allow for 25% of the gross floor area of the structure 
to be utilized for the business in addition to 25% of the property to be used for outdoor storage.  The 
applicant has indicated 500 square feet will be used for the business which meets this requirement as 
the gross floor area of the dwelling is 2200 square feet.  The outside storage will be 400 square feet 
which meets the outdoor storage requirement as the parcel is 5.6 Acres.  The applicant has indicated he 
will add additional Leyland Cyprus to the front property line along Warrenton Road for added 
screening. The single-family dwelling was constructed in 1956.  A building permit application was 
submitted October 2010 to construct a 38’x55’ storage building on the property.  The permit was 
approved by Zoning and Building but failed the review for Chesapeake Bay compliance as the limits of 
clearing and grading exceeded 2,500 square feet as shown on the plan submitted with the building 
permit.  At this time, it was brought to the attention of the zoning department that a business was 
operating from this location.  To operate a business from this location was a violation of the zoning 
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ordinance for the property was not zoned to allow for such a business use.  The applicant proceeded by 
applying for a Rural Home business which the Board of Zoning appeals denied on February 1, 2011 
because the applicant did not comply with the requirement of living on the premises.  He was ordered 
to close the business immediately.  The applicant proceeded to look for property to relocate the 
business.  In early 2012 the applicant purchased property to relocate and applied to rezone it.  On May 
1, 2012, the Stafford County Board of Supervisors approved a reclassification with proffers for the 
newly purchased property to be rezoned from A-1, Agricultural to M-1, Light Industrial.  This would 
allow the applicants electrical business to operate from that location.  In early 2015 the applicant 
submitted an application to VDOT for a new entrance permit for the property located on Warrenton 
Road.  VDOT notified the county of the request because they questioned a business operating at that 
location.  This brought to our attention that the business was still in operation on the original site.  On 
February 2, 2015, a Zoning inspector visited the site to confirm the business was still in operation.  A 
violation notice was sent that same day.  Staff met with Mr. Bajwa to discuss his options.  At this time, 
he has moved his residence to 2378 Warrenton Road and is applying again for a rural business permit. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any questions for staff? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I don’t know if it’s permissible and maybe staff can help me out with 
this one.  I asked a number of questions earlier this week and I got very solid responses back.  Is it 
possible to not have to go back through those questions and just add it as an attachment to the record? 
 
Dr. Larson:  No.  I’d like the applicant to hear the questions and the answers, and what we’re 
considering. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, my first question is, what’s an electrical construction company and 
what boundaries will be placed on the volume, and types of activities, and number of vehicles, 
equipment will be on site?   
 
Mrs. Musante:  Per the applicant, they primarily deal with commercial projects such as road way signs, 
road way signals, and installing camera and other equipment on the signals.  Rural home business 
allows for outside storage, fleet parking, and equipment.  He’s allowed 25% of the total area of the 
property for outdoor storage.  This includes the parking of commercial vehicles and any additional 
conditions the BZA deems appropriate for this use on the property.  Question number 2:  Why a rural 
home business special exception instead of a rezoning to a business use in this case?  Any examples of 
county authorizing this kind of business use on the A-1 parcel under a special exception?  Response:  
The land use map does not support a rezoning in this area.  We have not issued this type of special 
exception.  We have issued a permit for the parking and storage of commercial vehicles on an A-1 
property that is associated with a commercial truck repair business.  Other types of permits we have 
issued are custom car care and weddings in the A-1 district.  Question number 3:  What is the 
difference now, compared to the rezoning approved by Stafford in 2012?  Response:  He applied for a 
rezoning on another piece of property, but the cost is too great for him to proceed with the site plan, 
engineering cost, as well as the cost to develop.  Question number 4:  Was use of the lot/home as a 
residence the only determinative/material issue in the previous BZA case on this parcel. Please provide 
the application and meeting minutes from the prior BZA case.  Response:  The reason for the denial in 
2011 was he did not reside on the premise.  Minutes were attached.  Question number 5:  Please 
provide a description of the surrounding parcels and their zoning designation, also an expanded aerial 
that goes a bit further out.  Response:  The surrounding properties are zoned A-1, Agricultural and are 
either vacant land or have a single family dwelling.  Expanded aerial attached.   
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Mr. Apicella:  Thank you.  I only have one other question to add to that, and it has to do with 
enforcement issues.  So my question relates to both in terms of residency and fleet parking whether 
spoken to as specific conditions the requirements would still be… the county’s requirements would 
still be in place and enforced, irrespective of whether they’re spoken to in the conditions. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So if there were inoperable vehicles on the property, the county would address that with 
the applicant? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  That is correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for staff?  Hearing none, will the applicant or his/or her 
representative please come forward and present their case? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Good evening, my name is Chandergupt Bajwa, I think they call it Fredericksburg, but 
Stafford County.  I have an electrical construction business working with the roadways and highways, 
installing roadway signs, roadway lighting, some traffic signals, and CCTV cameras.  I do not have 
any service vehicles which go every day from the site to individual houses or residential services.  I’ve 
been working from the property for almost…since 2006 when we purchased it.  I’ve been denied the 
permission to operate the business from there.  I have tried my best to find an industrial location not 
knowing how much it would cost to develop, to bring the utilities to the property.  So I was not in 
condition to at this point to build any storage and office location there.  So I decided to move my 
residence back to the Warrenton Road property so I can operate from there as well as I can live there.        
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you, Sir.  Any questions for the applicant? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Mr. Chairman, I think I had one. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Go ahead. 
 
Ms. Brown:  It’s my understanding you were not living on the premises, but you have since moved to 
the premises? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, ma’am.  I’m moving right now.  I have some carpet work need to be done there, but I 
have started the process to moving the furniture out of there for the office and moving into that place. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  And I will complete probably within a couple of weeks and hopefully living there. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Is it your intention then to reside there as a residence? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir. 
 

Page 30 of 65 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
April 28, 2015 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  You said you’re going to be living there.  Is your family moving with you?  Do you have 
a family moving with you? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And how many people will be living in the residence? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Four people. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Four family members? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And then the 1 part time employee? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Part time employee will be there just… he comes like at 9 o’clock to 2 o’clock during the 
day time.  When I’m not there he provides some document or some technical information if I needed it 
in the field.  I have somebody can look it up and get that information from the office.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  How many years have you been in business? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  I started back in 89, Sir, but… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Or maybe I should say, how many years you been in business in Stafford, I guess is my… 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Stafford, I’ve been 10 years. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Ten years. 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  How many employees do you have? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  It fluctuates, it depends on the job.  At this time I have about 6 employees. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Six?  That’s not counting yourself, or? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No it’s not. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay.  How many vehicles do you have and operate through the business? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  About 8 or 9 vehicles, and most of the vehicles stay on the job sites.  They’re not everyday 
jobs.  Like if there was a project, for example we’re doing a job in Arlington.  They’re building a 
bridge up there, so we have our trucks park there.  The guys go there in the morning and they start 
working there and at the end they park the trucks over there, and the only time we bring the vehicles 
back is when the job is completed and the other then start probably a few days we don’t (inaudible).           
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Mr. Ingalls:  And your employees they… how do they get to the job, or do they come to the house and 
kind of meet there and go in one car, one truck, or… 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, they go direct to the job. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  They go directly to the job?  They don’t come to this residence? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No they don’t.  Only occasionally somebody will come.  Probably they need to pick up 
some tool, which is not every days use, or some material which is not every day use, that kind of 
situation.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  How about paydays or something like that?  Nowadays I know most of it is all electronic 
and you don’t give them a paycheck.   
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, we do give them checks, and the checks are taken to the job, because I’m a one man 
operation.  I take the checks with me and deliver them. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  On the job site? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir, and I work as a foreman, laborer, or owner, everything there.  They don’t come 
collect the checks. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  One of the conditions of a rural home business is that you also, before they’ll give you an 
occupancy permit, says that you will submit a development…applicant shall submit a development, 
which I assume means plan of development, in accordance with article 13 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
And article 13 is what’s a called a generalized development plan which is…it’s not like a site plan you 
would have had to prepare for doing a commercial type, but I’m assuming that means, and the county, 
maybe if I’m wrong they can correct me, would be more than what I have with me tonight of that little 
sketch that you showed, that you would show in more detail where you’re going to have this, the 
landscaping, what the landscaping might be.  You know, whether it’s…you know, what kind of trees, 
where it’s going to be located, where your gravel parking lot is, things like that.  It would be…you 
would be required to still submit something that’s not like a full blown site plan like you would have 
had with your rezoning.   
 
Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir.  I already had drawn the sketch of the location where the vehicles will be parked 
and where the outside storage will be.  And if I need to draw up more, I will. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  One of the conditions we put on special exceptions, it’s routine, is that, if you move away, 
you’re no longer resident at the site, your special exception will expire.  Do you understand that? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  I understand, Sir. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Any other questions for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Just, again, a little bit of further clarity on the electrical construction business.  Are you 
actually doing any work on the site itself, where your residence is going to be? 
 

Page 32 of 65 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
April 28, 2015 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, Sir.  The only work I do is doing some estimating work in the office or in the home.  
That kind of work.  There is no repair work going on.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  The reason I ask that is if there’s any noise as a result of your business operation that 
you’re going to be having out of your residence.  So, no noise? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, Sir. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Your application says from 6 AM to 6 PM; is that 5 days a week or 7 days a 
week? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  It’s a 7 day, if I’m residing there, I work 7 days a week, and probably several hours day 
and night, but that doesn’t mean that there is like a commercial business is going on.  I work myself, so 
I wake up in the morning, go to work, until I retire. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I hope you get some time for yourself.  Your application also says that no customers 
will come on site.  Would you have a problem if we put that in as a condition? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No problem. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  That’s it, Mr. Chairman. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for this applicant?  Thank you, Sir.  Is there any member of the public 
that wishes to speak in support of the application?  If so, please come forward.  Seeing none.  Any 
member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition to the application, please come forward.  
Seeing none.  We will now close the public hearing for this application and bring the matter back to the 
Board.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Mr. Chairman, can I ask the staff a question?   
 
Dr. Larson:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I find that… that ordinance is confusing enough, but since you didn’t send me the 
section where a rural home business was found, I had to think for a minute because I haven’t visited 
that section, and I know it’s under definitions, okay, it’s not under rural, it’s under H for home, 
because that’s a rural home.  Anyway, I did find it.  And in that section under rural home business it 
lists other criteria that must be followed.  I mean it’s a set of development rules.  I mean, you know, 
outdoor storage shall not be located within the front setbacks, and shall be set back at least 30 feet from 
all property owners.  I mean, it goes on and a number of different rules and regulations that tells him 
what he can and can’t do.  And yet, when we look at our conditions, nothing about that, except maybe 
some vague, you know, I don’t even see some vague reference to… well it has to follow the county 
code.  Because, I mean, there is a number of things, I think, that he needs to know.  If you haven’t read 
this definition, you wouldn’t know you needed to do that and that’s where I got that article 13 from.  I 
mean it’s just… I wonder why we didn’t include those as requirements.  These are development 
conditions here for a rural home business right in this definition in addition to what you put.  Like I 
said, there’s… by number there’s 6, but there are probably 10 or 15 items there.  Should we not include 
that, or some reference to that?  Because he said he was going to do some landscaping, but if you read 
what it says… the outdoor storage shall be screened from view of adjacent properties and road ways by 
solid board fence and or landscaping as approved by the Zoning Administrator, Susan.  I don’t know 
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what Susan’s going to approve or not approve.  She might approve one Leyland cypress or she might 
want double rows.  I don’t know what she’s going to approve.  It just seems to me that we’ve kind of 
set these conditions and then we forgot about all these others, and somebody better read this section.  
Which, under definitions is not the right place, in my opinion, to set up all these development 
conditions.  They should be somewhere in the ordinance other than a definition.  That’s not a definition 
of rural home business.  It’s a definition plus development standards. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t disagree with what you’re saying, however, I think, I could be wrong, it’s 
captured under number 9, that you must comply with all federal, state, and local codes.  Those 
conditions are for any rural home business. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And so, even the previous one, we didn’t articulate those specific conditions because 
maybe they didn’t sound like they would apply. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That was a totally different… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  But I’m just saying. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know we didn’t.  But, like I said, it seems to me I’m not telling the applicant, oh he 
reads these and this is all he has to do.  Now, under this catch all phrase of must comply with all laws, 
and rules, and regulations that comply with you.  It doesn’t tell him, you know… and anybody who... 
like I say, normally you wouldn’t go to definition and those of us who worked in the business had to 
read this ordinance a thousand time.  We finally figured it out.  Some of the stuff is over here in 
definitions, that tells you a whole lot more than anything else. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  My concern would be though, that’s true for everything that we do in Stafford. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  As a home owner we have certain requirements we have to meet.  We don’t meet the 
setback requirement, hey, we’re in trouble.  These are conditions that are in addition to those that are… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s right.  They’re all in addition.  They may be additions, but then maybe we ought to 
say, must comply with section so and so, and so and so of the Stafford County Zoning Code, rather 
than all local codes.  I mean, it just seems to me, if you don’t read this section you don’t know exactly 
what you can do on that piece of property. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just think… I don’t disagree with what you’re saying.  I understand where it’s coming 
from.  We just haven’t done it in the past and we’ve had several rural home business. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know we haven’t done it in the past.  That don’t mean, it’s like Dana says, nothing in the 
past says what I can do today or tomorrow.  What I do tonight might change to the next meeting. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Again, my concern is, it ultimately is on the applicant, home owner, business person to 
comply with all rules.  And that’s there basically to say, hey by the way, if you don’t comply with 
those federal, state, and local rules we can revoke your special exception, in addition to not complying 
with the additional conditions that we have set.  So, number 1, you have to comply with what’s already 
required of you under the use that you’re asking for, and beyond that, in order to continue to have this 
special exception you got to abide by these additional conditions that we’ve established.  Again, I 
would be concerned about regurgitating every single code requirement that a person has to comply 
with, because this could be voluminous.   
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m concerned that too.  We might miss something, but I do understand Mr. Ingalls’s 
point, because it is kind of vague and I don’t know, I don’t think our inspectors are going out…are 
they checking every single state and local code when they go out, or are they just looking for 
somebody to report something?  How does this work? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If I was the county or somebody who comes after these people and reads this special 
exception, and he says, let’s see what they said they had to do, and he’s going to read it, and they are 
going to get to that one that says must comply with all federal, state, and local codes.  And then he’s 
going to go right over… I’m on to the next one, because he doesn’t know.  The next person, what does 
that mean?  I mean, is he going to start checking the code? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think our Code Compliance folks are supposed to know what the requirements are. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know.  They’re supposed to, but like I say, if nothing else, I would have said he must 
comply with, in addition to all these others, he must comply with these 6 as stated in, what are the 
section numbers, 28-whatever, 25, definition home rural business, that we would at least call it out.  I 
don’t know of any other section in here, like I say, because it does call out, well he’s got to go over 
here and do section 13.  Well section 13, you got to read that… that’s a lot of stuff in there too.  And 
like I say, unless he reads this, he doesn’t know, well what does section 13 actually have to say?  
That’s just opinion. 
 
Ms. Brown:  When someone applies for this, does anybody in staff sit down and go over what they 
have to do?  Okay. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  But it never gets translated you know.  If you go back and read… if you go back to look 
at a special exception, what are you going to look at?  You’re going to look at what we pass tonight 
and those development conditions. You’re not going back and read the case, read what it did, and 
everything else.  That’s the, I think, the legal document that’s there, and I realize, if you’re going to 
just throw everything in to… we might as well just say, well he has to apply by all state and federal 
codes and… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I would just provide an example.  A recent case in front of us where we had to revoke a 
special exception, and the staff came to us and advised us what specific provisions the applicant did 
not… local code requirements the applicant did not abide by.  In that case the applicant didn’t file for 
an occupancy permit.  Again, it might be buried in the code, but nonetheless, again, any person, 
business, home owner has to abide by the full realm of requirements.  And I’m kind of where Dana is, 
to what point do we hold somebody’s hand and tell them, here is the voluminous number of 
requirements that you have to abide by in the code.  It is a catchall and I think it’s purposeful.  
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Mr. Ingalls:  I almost think it’s a disservice to the applicant, not to make him more aware.  I mean, 
Melody could meet with him, and I don’t know when she met with him and gone over every one of 
these requirements but, you know I almost think it’s a disservice by not having it so that it’s spelled 
out. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He asked me and I said I go through every item. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know you do and you go through it and talk to him about but that’s months ago, and we 
get here and then we come up with a set of a development conditions.  Oh here’s your development 
conditions, but don’t remember there’s a bunch more you have to do besides these. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Those aren’t development conditions.  Those are special exception conditions, in 
addition to all other requirements.  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  In this particular case I believe, like I say, this is a wrong place for the development 
conditions in the ordinance.  This is definitions.  It’s not supposed to be in here right? Susan?  But 
anyway, don’t answer that, but you know it’s just in the wrong place and that’s the only reason I would 
say it’s so out of place that it needs to be called to their attention.  It’s not like it’s over here in some 
section that you would normally catch under all the other things that are development conditions.  I bet 
there’s all kinds of developments conditions that are listed closer to where it should be done.  I’ll finish 
with my speech. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Should we ask the applicant if he understands the conditions?  
 
Dr. Larson:  My concern is that if we focus on one part of the code and then there are other applicable 
parts that we don’t focus on then we may have done the applicant an injustice by focusing on that part 
he may think everything else is okay.  I personally am okay with the way it’s worded here because I 
don’t think on every case… on each case we will be able to define all the parts of the code that apply to 
each case, so the code is there for everybody’s use.  I understand your frustration with where this is 
located on all this information and that’s something that’s maybe a different issue. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That part of it… One of the reasons I bring it up is just because development conditions 
shouldn’t be under definition.  They should be some place other than that. 
 
Dr. Larson: I’m not going to disagree with that. 
  
Mr. Ingalls:  And it should be called out and if we want to say let’s ignore it and go on and just hope 
they’ll catch the local code. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, I wasn’t suggesting that we spell it all out I was just suggesting we in the course of 
our hearing we, you know, we make sure we ask the applicant do you understands these are the 
conditions and you must also comply with state and federal, do you know where to… maybe contact 
staff if you have a question. I don’t think we should list them all out, I mean it would be helpful but I 
think we could … 
 
Dr. Larson:  Melody presumably you talk with the each applicant when they come in and do you 
understand that some of the important information is may be misplaced in the code so under 
definitions? 
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Mrs. Musante:  Absolutely. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay.  Any other comments?   
 
Mr. Apicella:  Uhm, I kind of lost track of time.  Did we close the public hearing? 
 
Dr. Larson:  I’m just trying to figure out where we were here.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I thought you closed it, but… 
 
Dr. Larson:  Well, does the applicant wish to respond on anything we’ve said or provide any additional 
information based on what we’ve said so far?  I believe the public hearing is still open.  Okay we will 
now close the public hearing for this application bringing the matter back to the board for motions and 
decision. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, if we were to approve the conditions, I would just add the one condition 
that I had interchange with the applicant about, that no customer shall visit the site, consistent with 
what he put in his application. 
 
Ms. Brown:  And I’d like to add something, maybe discuss it.  Last time we had a hearing we talked 
about putting a time frame on a time to get conditions met like the fence, the landscaping.  I’d like to 
discuss doing that again so it doesn’t stretch out for years and years.  
 
Mrs. Musante:  Condition number 7 states “install fence and landscaping as shown on the plat 
submitted”.  We could maybe expend that and add a deadline? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Yes, should be completed no later than…I’m open to a suggestion on the time. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Is the zoning administrator approving that right now?  The landscaping? Cause that’s 
what article says, that you will approve the landscaping plan.  Are you approving that, by us saying 
that, have you approved it or going to approve it, are we’re taking your approval away? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  No you are not taking my approval away. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well it says he can... He has to do it the way it shows it on this little sketch. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  If the sketch is… if the Board is happy with the sketch, then I will be the one who 
make sure that it’s put it away it’s done on the sketch. If you want it supplemented, if you want the 
landscaping or screening to be such that it is up to my discretion, you can say that, because we’re 
doing this as a special exception. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well it says that he shall submit a GDP plan to the zoning administrator and then the 
zoning administrator will review it and approve it.  
 
Ms. Blackburn:  And that’s what I will do according to the regulations and the zoning ordinance. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  And if we say, this what we say… 
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Ms. Blackburn:  Any applicable codes that would be required for grading or any of those other 
disciplines.  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I wasn’t worried… if you’re saying by that sketch that’s kind of a rough sketch to say I 
approve that.  I’m not sure that I would.  I don’t know what it’s not detailed enough for me to know 
whether he screened it from all adjacent properties and the roads or whatever.  I mean, I didn’t look at 
it from that detail cause I figured he’s going to have to submit… the ordinance says he’s got to submit 
it to you for your review and approval so I was depending on you, now you going to be responsible for 
reviewing that GDP and does it comply with the stuffing definitions and I don’t mean to be 
superseding your authority by saying, oh we saw this is on the sketches, so it’s okay. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Can I offer maybe a suggestion there that “install fence and landscaping consistent with 
the plat submitted as further reviewed and approved by the zoning administrator”.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I was kind of looking… I was going to try to read it again.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  I would just give you a Planning Commissioner’s perspective that we get a diagram of 
what the landscaping plan will look like but ultimately the staff further adjudicated when it gets to the 
construction plan so it just a general depiction of what the landscape plan will look like.  It’s more 
concrete as the process unfolds.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, under the section article 13 the purpose of the generalized development plan 
requirement is to provide a concept of the development related to the reclassification or conditional use 
permit in order to provide a basis for review of the proposed use on the subject lot, and the director of 
planning, she may wave the requirements of the submission of a GDP if the applicant meets one of the 
following, it talks about that, and then it says, the content of the GDP shall include at a minimum the 
following, and there’s 13 different things in that list there that she should be looking at before she 
approves it. I now have an issue that we’re approving the site plan that he’s submitted when there’s 
nothing there that gives me enough information to say, yeah that’s okay.  You know, he’s showing the 
landscaping, you know, I don’t know if that meets the ordinance or not.  I haven’t look at it from that 
standpoint, but can we add something that would, like I said, I don’t think we should be taking the 
authority away from the zoning administrator to look at it and decide for herself. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So I was, again, trying to come up with a compromise that, I’ll say it one more time, 
install fence and landscaping generally shown on the plat submitted as further reviewed and approved 
by the zoning administrator.  
 
Ms. Brown:  With the “completed by”-date. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, shall be shown on the submitted plan and approved by the zoning administrator in 
accordance with article 13.  And if she wants to… and landscaping must be installed within… 
 
Dr. Larson:  Let me ask the zoning administrator, do you have any objections to that wording?  
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Can you say the wording again? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes, Steven?  Please repeat your wording. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Install fence and landscaping as generally shown on the plat submitted as further 
reviewed and approved by the zoning administrator under… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Article 13. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And by… 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m open on time frame to be completed within four months of approval, I don’t know 
how long it would take to get with the zoning administrator to approve it and then for him to be able to 
install it.  What is the reasonable time frame you think?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I would say within, because it kind of depends on the season by which it would happen, 
I would give them 6 months from the date the zoning administrator approves the plan… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well we’re going to approve it or disapprove it tonight. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right, but the zoning administrator… he still has submit a more detailed plan.  It might 
take some time for the zoning administrator to approve it.  All I’m saying is, who knows, it could be in 
December by the time all this comes to fruition, so we don’t want plants to be installed and die over…. 
 
Ms. Brown:  How long does it typically take for you guys to be able to review something like this?  I 
mean, I don’t want him to wait until December till he comes to get it review. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  I totally understand.  Normally I would say 10 days if we have a complete type of 
application, we don’t have a lot of questions, we don’t…you know things like that.  When we’re doing 
landscaping, when it comes to the fall, fall is always better to plant shrubbery unless we get it done 
early within the next few months.  So, I understand the time limit because of what has happened in the 
past, so you can either make it as the time limit from the day that is being passed tonight and then 
potentially adjust for any kind of review processes within the county, and it will also require that they 
get the plan submitted in a timely fashion. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So actually I think you’re right.  I think it’s from the date of approval because we wait 
for them to submit their plan.  That could be a year from now.  I would still say 6 months from the date 
of approval and I think that’s what we decided on the last one where we... 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m fine with it, I guess. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Six months from the date of the County Administrator’s approval. 
 
Ms. Brown:  No. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No.  Six months from the date of our approval. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Our approval? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes.  That way this can’t languish, waiting for the applicant to submit a more detailed 
landscaping plan. 
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Ms. Brown:  Gives him 6 months to get with the zoning administrator to figure out what he’s…I think 
he’s already decided what he wants to do, but…and get it in.  I mean, we can adjust the time limit 
every time that we approve one, depending on what time of year it is.  Obviously we wouldn’t tell him 
he has to have it done in a month if he’s applying in December, but this is the spring.  It is planting 
season.  I foresee good weather for several months.  It would be different for a different time. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Fall would be perfect.  October would be the perfect month. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, I mean I can see every time it could be different.  Yeah, I think 6 months is plenty 
of time to… I mean, like I said, he already has an idea what he wants to do and to get it done, I think 
that’s more than generous. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Alright.  So we’re working on the conditions for special exceptions.  Are there any... is 
there any other discussion of conditions that should be necessary for this special exception?  Melody, 
do you think you have everything written down for this and can you summarize it for us? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Number 1: Days and hours of operation 6:00am to 6:00pm, 7 days per week.  Number 
2: Applicant must reside and provide proof of residency.  Number 3: All equipment and supplies shall 
be stored in an enclosed building.  Number 4: Provide off street parking only.  Number 5: Provide list 
of family members employed by the business, employees that will work on site, and employees that 
will work off site.  Number 6: Provide list of vehicles associated with the business, vehicles that will 
be parked on site, and vehicles that remain off site for the off-site employees.  Install fence and 
landscaping as shown on the plat submitted and further reviewed by the zoning administrator and 
article 13 and install by 6 months of the BZA approval.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  Can I just… one word was missed and so it should say “Install fence and landscaping as 
generally shown”. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Generally.  Okay.  Number 8: No sign advertising the business.  Number 9: Must 
comply with all federal, state, and local codes.  Number 10: Approval of this special exception will 
expire when this applicant vacates the property.  Number 11: No customers shall visit the site.  
Number 12: This approval may be revoked by the Board of Zoning Appeals for noncompliance with 
the conditions of approval. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  It’s semantics, Mr. Chairman, but I would move the customers to just before approval of 
the special exception one…expire.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Can I ask, why do we want to limit him not having a client to come to his office to discuss 
a contract? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  He put it in his application.  I asked him the question, is he okay with that? And he said 
he was, so it goes back to what kind of business does the person have when they come us asking for a 
rural home in business. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  The law said he can have a construction business so a business is a business and part of 
business is dealing with customers and clients and so forth, and I don’t know why we limited him to 
that. 
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Dr. Larson:  Could you repeat the limit that we’re referring to here? The how we limited him not to see 
clients? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Number 11. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  No customer shall visit the site.  Is that what you’re asking?  What are you asking me? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay yes.  I have it here.  I wrote it down. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I think it’s in his application. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  If you look at attachment 1, page 3 or 4, about midway, there’s a sentence that says “no 
customers will come to the property”.  That, I mean, that’s I call proffered by the applicant himself. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, do we want to limit a business to be able to operate as a business.  If we’re going to 
approve a business, and I think this Board always tries to look at trying not to put obstacles in the way 
of the business that’s going to be detrimental to it, that we want the business to survive, we want 
businesses to come to Stafford, we want to them to be successful, and maybe some point in time he 
would have somebody… I know that’s what he said and he… but he… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t have an objection to customers visiting the site as long as we put parameters 
around it using the same verbiage we used for the last application. Customers by appointment only, 
with only one customer visiting at any giving time. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I suggest we do that. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That would be more appropriate. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m fine with that as long as we put some… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I mean, I just don’t want to limit… you know, him, well him saying, well, I can’t meet 
you.  I got to meet you down at McDonald’s and discuss business down at McDonald’s rather than 
come to his office.  I mean it’s a business.  If we’re going to let him have the business let’s let him 
operate as a business.   
 
Ms. Brown:  He may not want people coming to his house, can we ask him first if that’s okay? 
 
Dr. Larson:  We’re not forcing him to do this. We’re permitting him. I have to agree he may not 
foresee it now but he may need it in the future. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So again, I just would change number 11 to “Customers by appointment only with only 
one customer visiting at a time”. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I think that’s fine.  That’s better than zero. Number 3 says “all equipment and supplies 
shall be stored in an enclosed building”, does that include heavy equipment?  I would suggest it does 
not.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m going back to 2011 discussion back and forth and I thought you couldn’t have 
heavy equipment, as part of a role in business. There was specific questioning about what kind of 
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equipment might be on site.  I can pull it up real quick, but I want to say Mr. Gibbon asked the 
question about whether there are going to be bulldozers and front loaders and what have you.  I 
actually read from Mrs. Musante’s response how do we define fleet.  We do, fleet parking, parking and 
storage of no more than 5 operable vehicles other than auto mobiles which are used in a daily operation 
of a business not located on site or the parking in storage of more than one vehicle with the gross 
vehicle weight in excess of 10,000 pounds this is not to be construed to include parking in storage of 
farm vehicles or equipment or construction equipment such as bulldozers, front loaders, backhoes , or 
similar devices which are not licensed to operate on state roads. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Could the applicant step forward for a second?  First of all, do you understand the 
conditions that we’ve been discussing here and do you have any issues with the conditions so far that 
you’ve heard? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, I have no objection so only thing about that equipment I think it’s not worded right.  
As you mentioned, heavy equipment cannot be put inside the storage.  I do have an excavator and a 
backhoe which is part of my business and which I need all the time. 
 
Dr. Larson:  When I drove by today I saw what I would consider heavy equipment.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m going back to what’s allowable.  Fleet parking is allowable.  I’m not quite sure 
whether this heavy equipment is allowable as a rural home business. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  It’s says equipment. Number 1, under the rural home business standards says, outdoor 
storage which may include fleet parking and equipment shall not be located within front yard, setbacks 
and shall be set back at least 30 feet from all other property lines. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yeah, but what does equipment mean?  You made a distinction about these types of 
heavy equipment not being commensurate with fleet parking. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  The zoning ordinance does not have a definition of equipment.  Fleet parking:  parking 
in storage of more than 5 operable vehicles other than automobiles which are used in the daily 
operation of a business, the gross weight of 10,000 pounds.  This is not to be construed, just what he 
read, to include parking and storage of farm vehicles or equipment or construction equipment such as 
bulldozers, front loaders, backhoes, and similar devices. So that’s in the definition of fleet parking. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Why we asking him to enclose it in a building?  It doesn’t say... it says outdoor storage. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  It’s a suggested development condition.  You can remove it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  The ordinance doesn’t require him to put all of his equipment, including that, inside of the 
building.  Outdoor storage is part of all that… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think it’s a more fundamental issue about what’s permissible under a rural home 
business.  I’m not going to try to define it right now, but in term of fleet parking, which is allowable as 
a rural home business, those types of heavy equipment cannot meet the definition of fleet parking.  I 
don’t enforce the code and I’m going to leave it to the county staff to decide whether the backhoe and 
whatever else he has is appropriate or not appropriate. 
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Mrs. Musante:  And these conditions actually were taken from the 2011 request and without going 
back and reading through the minutes to find out exactly what we did that could have been why the 
condition was put on there, because we do not allow the storage of the equipment.  If you put it in a 
building, that’s a little different case. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Is that a building or a covered parking like a car port thing?  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I’m struggling now if it says you can have contracting and a construction 
company in a rural home business and it says we can fleet parking in equipment can be located in a 
outdoor storage area not, it doesn’t say anything about covered.  If I’m a contractor or have a 
construction company, I could be a heavy construction company.  I could have all kind of earth 
moving equipment, you won’t allow that?  
 
Mrs. Musante:  Keep in mind again back in 2011 Mr. Bajwa submitted in an application to construct 
this very large building to house all of his equipment in when he came to you before, that’s how we 
found out this was taking place, was back when he submitted that application for this almost 2,100 
square foot building.  That’s where the stemmed from.  So if we are not allowing this outside storage 
which a rule home business does allow for, he can store that equipment inside that building that he was 
going to construct.  What we may need to ask him at this point too or you all need to ask is what’s the 
status of this building.   If you all approve this special exception does he con… 
 
Ms. Brown:  I thought he couldn’t build the building because the Ches Bay people said he was going to 
disturb too much earth. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  He would have to submit a grading plan.  
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay.  Okay. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  He shows on his plan that we are approving vehicle storage area.  Now he doesn’t write 
the word equipment but he’s got the area marked off, probably 100 by 150 for vehicle storage down 
there, and he got another outside 400 or 4,000 outside storage area. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Doesn’t define whether it’s covered or simply allocated space.  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Right, it just says he allocated vehicle storage and if I had a bulldozer or a backhoe I 
certainly not going to put it in a shed all the time. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, the underlying issue here is, what is the rural home business and what is not a 
rural home business, and we can talk about what we think is appropriate, personally I’m kind of 
wondering whether you’re going passed the threshold of what might be a rural home business if you 
got heavy construction equipment on your site. 
 
Ms. Brown:  That’s what I’m thinking.  It sounds more and more commercial.  I saw what it look like a 
bucket truck today, same thing I see in the picture here, there was some very large equipment there. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Remember I asked the question who and whether we speak to fleet parking in the 
conditions are not, staff ultimately would enforce it whether it’s in the condition or not, so the 
requirement is the requirement.  So if he exceeds the requirement and has certain type of vehicles on 
the site that do not meet the definition or requirements, then the staff would have to enforce it. 
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Mrs. Musante:  Right.  It does state a non-agriculture business intended for general office, professional 
office, personal service, contracting, and construction which may include outside storage.  That’s in the 
definition of rural home business not even getting into the conditions or the development conditions 
that he has to comply with, this is a contracting business. 
 
Dr. Larson:  The contracting businesses run the gamut as far as required tools.  Some only required 
circular saw, I mean stuff you can store in your basement.  
 
Mrs. Musante:  Okay construction company, you’ve got backhoes, you’ve got bulldozers.  It says 
contracting and construction as an allowed use. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  You can be a general contractor operating out of your house but that doesn’t necessarily 
mean you need to have equipment… you live in a P-TND let’s use this other circumstance, we’ve got 
this person that lives in a P-TND, Austin Ridge who wants to have a construction business.  We’re 
going to let him have a backhoe sitting in his yard?  I guess it doesn’t apply because it’s not a rural 
home business. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  But even so, the minimum requirement for agricultural is a 3 acre lot, okay, surrounded 
by lots of other 3 acre lots.  I live in a subdivision of 3 acre lots.  I don’t think it would be appropriate 
to have my neighbor with heavy equipment sitting next to my house. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  And we probably would rule that way.  We would rule that it wouldn’t be appropriate for 
that particular site. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t think you can make a distinction between sites. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I can. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t think you can. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think the requirement is the requirement.  Either you allow it or you disallow it, and I 
can’t imagine that the county intends to have people with backhoes on 3 acre lots. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  What if I had a 50 acre site?  I can have it?  Could I have it on a 50 acre site? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t know that we can… I don’t think we can make that distinction based on what’s 
in front of us here.  We don’t make the rules.  We try to work within the rules, and all I would say is as 
it relates to this type of equipment, it’s not for us to make…you said it earlier.  It’s not for us to make 
the call.  It’s for the county to make the call based on the rules that are in play.  I don’t think we have 
to define it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I just don’t think… I don’t want to… I don’t have to force him to put it under storage.  
Just put it in a closed building. The county might force him but I don’t want to force him to do that. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  The gentleman does electrical construction business.  He does signs, right? 
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Mr. Bajwa:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  What if he has 300 signs sitting in his yard?  I’m not saying he will, but he could.  That 
gets to a point where it’s unsightly.  I think there’s a reason why the intent was for this business to 
have its equipment, which I don’t personally define as vehicles, in a storage building so that people 
driving by on route 17 aren’t looking at a bunch of signs and other equipment that this business might 
use. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So you would say all equipment not including vehicles and construction equipment? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, the fleet parking issue to me is separate from the equipment issue put inside the 
building to keep it from being disturbing the view shed, so the speak, as you’re driving up and down 
17.  This is on 17 next to a bunch of A1 zoned parcels, not in a business district.  So we’re trying to 
make some accommodation to allow the applicant to operate this particular business as he’s described 
it with minimal impact on the surrounding area. 
 
Ms. Brown:  It was very visible from the road, I felt, when I drove by. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s part of, I think that GDP plan, that we’re going to be looking at and approving 
what, again it lays out something here and then it talks about screening from view from the road, from 
the adjacent properties, that the storage area shall be that way, and I’m assuming the… we’ve said 
okay, the county, that’s your job.  It’s not our job.  It’s their job to say okay this screening we will 
approve, this amount of screening, so that it’s not visible. Now, there is a threshold and I don’t know 
where it is yet and what type of businesses we should be approving and I think where they’re being 
approved.  Look at these special exceptions.  Like I say, you wouldn’t want one in a single fam… oh 
no, single… what, an A-1, 3-acre lot subdivision.  We would not approve, I don’t believe, a 
construction company in that specific…We would have… there’s… I think given us and what we can 
look at for special exception, there’s enough there that says we can disapprove that.  If we can’t then 
we might as well not be there.  It’s like you when you look at rezoning you decide well is this a proper 
rezoning. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think you also have to balance that with not being arbitrary and capricious in your 
decision without saying it’s okay for a 10-acre parcel, but it’s not good for a 3-acre parcel.   We don’t 
have those boundaries written into the code.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  But it may be appropriate for... 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So the only boundary that I see is what is in the definition of (inaudible) parking.  And 
to me, it does not include those… it clearly does not include those types of equipment because they’re 
especially excluded from the definitions.  I think we’re getting too into the weeds.  I think we’re trying 
to ourselves enforce the requirements.  Again, that’s why I go back to the County is responsible for 
enforcing...   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  As long as that’s number 3 does not include backhoes and construction equipment, that he 
has to put it in a closed building.  Is the county going to require him to do that then... because we say 
so, not because they say so. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Mr. Bajwa, were you planning on putting your heavy equipment in an enclosed building? 
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Mr. Bajwa:  No, Sir. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If we pass this, county?  How are you interpreting that sentence? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  This, again, is just a suggested development condition. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I know, but you suggested it. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Wipe it out. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You suggested it.  How do you interpret it?  If you suggested it, you ought to be able to 
tell me, what does it mean.  Does it mean he has to put his backhoe in an enclosed building? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  If the condition was standing as it is right now, yes, the equipment other than vehicles 
would have to be stored within an enclosed building. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Heavy… a bulldozer is not a vehicle.  It’s equipment. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Right.  It’s equipment. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Then you would interpret that to mean he would have to put all his heavy equipment, 
could be backhoe, bulldozer, trencher, and stuff like that? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Yes, in an enclosed building if the condition stayed as it is. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So we would have to exclude that if we want to… you not to make him do that, if we 
excluded heavy equipment?  
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Such as? You would be okay with that? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Then it would not be part…you would have excluded it from being included in an 
enclosed building and then that would not have to happen. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  And you would be okay with that? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Well, it’s not up to me.  It would still have to be screened, still has setbacks from it, 
from the property line.  So no, the equipment inside or outside of the building is up to you all.  
 
Ms. Brown:  Could it go in like an enclosed area with a fence, you know, 9-foot fence?  I mean, I don’t 
know how tall these backhoes are but I mean instead of saying a building which he would probably 
have to get a building permit for. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  The ordinance actually says, it has to be enclosed with a fence and/or screened 
landscaping.  That’s what the ordinance says. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Yes.  Within or without it’s up to you all. 
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Ms. Brown:  I would like it to look less like a commercial business in that area.  When I was driving 
there today that was the only one that I saw that looked like that.  
 
Dr. Larson:  You can clearly see the heavy vehicles from the road. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I did.  I went by couple times, because the first time I missed, going kind of fast.  Oops, 
yep there it was, but then I saw a bucket truck and it’s clearly different than the surrounding properties. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  A bucket truck is not equipment.  It’s a truck.  It’s a vehicle.  You wouldn’t have to screen 
a vehicle. 
 
Ms. Brown:  It’s just big.  I saw a lot of stuff.  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  In my view either this type of heavy equipment is or it’s not allowed by the code, okay?  
So I think that’s a separate issue that somebody’s going to ultimately have to deal with, but I do 
believe and think that supplies and materials should be in a stored building. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I agree. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t have a problem with that.  I would just say all equipment and supplies excluding 
heavy equipment such as bulldozers, backhoes shall not be required to be enclosed in the building. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  My only concern with that is the application that it does follow in the definition of 
what’s allowable I don’t what there it is or it isn’t.  I’m concerned about making a reference to it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls: It’s not allowable? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t know if it is or it isn’t.  Based on what I’ve heard so far, it’s kind of a grey area.  
Again, I think the county is going to have to figure that out. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  They could come back to us and say... we can’t make law, we can’t change the law, but 
right now there is nobody that says we can’t put that in here.  They haven’t said no you can’t do that. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think the way you could say is, under this section we’re not speaking to yada, yada, 
yada, you know.  We’re not speaking to heavy vehicles, one way or the other. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well she’s already stated that if we leave it just like it is, she’s going to make him put that 
backhoe in a building. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And what I’m saying is I don’t think we should even address the backhoes and the 
heavy equipment. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s what he’s got. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I understand he’s got it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If we don’t address it… she’s addressed.  She’s told us.  She’s going to make him put it in 
the building. 
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Mr. Apicella:  And that’s still may not solve the problem.  The requirement exists whether it’s in a 
building or it’s not in a building.  It’s just covered.  It’s just in some enclosure.  You can either have 
heavy equipment as part of a rural home business under a definition of fleet parking, covered or not 
covered, or you can’t.  You understand what I’m trying to say? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  But we don’t have to cover it.  We can say… all we’re saying is, if it is allowed he 
doesn’t have to cover it. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Your definition or your condition was, except backhoe, front loaders, blah blah blah, 
and I’m saying, we shouldn’t even talk about that.  All I’m suggesting is the conditions to say materials 
and supplies shall be in an enclosed building. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You’re going to drop out the word equipment? That’s what you just said, you said all 
materials and supplies.  Wording is equipment. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Equipment seems to be the grassed area yet… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Equipment is grey area.  You know, let’s put material in.  Then that still doesn’t mean he 
can’t have outdoor storage of certain things.  The ordinance allows him to have outdoor storages, that 
whole section is outdoor storage. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right, and so we’re potentially considering a condition that’s contrary to what’s 
allowable, which we can do, which says for this particular business enterprise that the signs and other 
items associated with this business are going to be in a structure. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Can we just change equipment to materials and just leave it at that. All material and 
supplies shall be stored in a closed building.  Okay?  That’s what you said.  Let’s go with that. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay.  So we’re leaving all the trucks and the bucket trucks and all that out in the open? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  What I’m saying is, again, it is either allowed or not allowable and the county will 
enforce it within the requirements of the code. 
 
Dr. Larson:  We’re not addressing the vehicles.  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If he’s allowed to have them, he must… has outside storage, they must be screened, that’s 
what the ordinance says, and that’s what they say is okay then that’s what he’ll do.  If they say you 
can’t have this piece of equipment, then they’ll tell him that, but he could have other types of things… 
the ordinance expects him to have some type of outdoor storage.  Because it addresses all those…the 
whole section. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m confused.  Is the bulldozer going to be screened?  The things that don’t drive on the 
road legally, are they going to be screened from view? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If he was a big contractor maybe he’d have big pieces of pipe lying out there and he might 
have it in a storage yard.  He wouldn’t put it in a building and you would screen it.  At some point 
these rural home businesses are a little bit… there is a point at which I think you have to say that’s too 
big for a rural home business. 
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Mr. Grimes:  Part of granting this special exception, and it’s actually nice that our attorney weighed in 
on this, one of the things that it points out there, you shall be in harmony with the uses permitted, and it 
goes on to say, shall not adversely affect the use of the neighboring property.  If this business was on a 
3 acre lot, again, I may consider differently than a 27 acre lot, because he has large equipment, fleet 
parking.  Might be a rural home business on a 3 acre lot with no fleet parking because it’s some other 
service, you know, with fiber optics, and he doesn’t have any material and trucks. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I drive on that road every day and that’s where I live and it’s rural.  It is houses for the 
most part.  There’s some commercial prior to that area, some commercial past that area, but in that area 
it’s homes and churches that’s it.  So this would be a unique enterprise along that road. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  If you felt, if this business didn’t meet that harmony you should say, I don’t think we 
should allow it.  
 
Mr. Brown:   I don’t think it’d be in harmony with the surrounding, as it is right now.  As I saw it 
today it did not look in harmony with the surrounding area.  That’s my personal opinion.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I didn’t see the heavy equipment so I didn’t realized it was there.  I might have 
(inaudible - microphone not on) differently.  I was trying to figure out a way to help this gentleman 
(inaudible) his business operation with, again, minimal impact on the surrounding area.  It did not 
sound like a lot of activity was happening there.  I’m not even sure why the equipment is there other 
than for storage purposes.  It probably goes somewhere else.   
 
Ms. Brown:  I drove by mid-day today.  I was there at mid-day.  Yeah, if it’s going somewhere else I 
would think the lot might have been more empty today, but…   I don’t know what time Mr. Larson 
went by, but I probably went by around 12:30. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I was later than that. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We look at… we got a different perspective because this business is there and you have it 
not legally there.  It hasn’t got any of the screening.  If he had come to us on a blank piece of paper 
we’d be talking about the screening and everything and all that would be… so we would probably be 
look at it differently.  Having seen it I could understand… well right now, maybe I would say gee-whiz 
this is kind of hard on this area, but after he does all his screening and everything else is it going to be 
appropriate?  And that’s part of what the ordinance says, that the county is going to look at his 
generalized development plan and make sure it is appropriate. 
 
Ms. Brown:  If it’s appropriately screened I’m fine. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Well, it says here…it says on document here that existing vegetation… will add additional 
Leyland cypress.  Leyland cypress is a good screen.  It’s a fast growing plant. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Does it define it as 1 or 100? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah. 
 
Dr. Larson:  That’s true. 
 
Ms. Brown:  When I first read it, I thought it meant a Leyland cypress. 
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Mr. Grimes:  By adding the language that Mr. Apicella was suggesting earlier that as further reviewed 
and approved by zoning administrator.  This is just a frame work of the plan that has to be provided to 
zoning to review and approve, so we’re not approving this plan. 
 
Dr. Larson:  But we could put in a condition that the equipment be screened from the road, by view 
from the road, by Leyland cypress or something like that or a fence. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  But I believe that’s a development condition of a rural home business already. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s our condition.   
 
Mr. Grimes:  Go back to where we were before and put section 13 in the development conditions. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well perhaps that’s why they suggested the building, because you put up some Leyland 
cypress that’s going to take a while for them to get big enough to screen that, it could take 5 years. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  He’s going to build a building big enough to put a backhoe in that’s going to be about feet 
tall probably.  
 
Ms. Brown:  Well the equipment I saw didn’t look that tall.  The tallest thing was the bucket truck that 
I saw today, but it just didn’t fit in harmony when I drove by I definitely could tell it was there.  But I 
would like him to have his home business.  I’m not against his home business I would just like to get it 
screened and not in 5 years.  If there’s some other way where he could… there was, when I drove by 
what I thought I saw, was the first, there was like almost two openings.  The first one where the home 
was and then there seemed to be a stand of tree or something big and green and then another opening 
again where I could see more of the equipment through that. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  From the aerial you can see where there was a second opening made, and that might have 
been where they were broaching to get the second VDOT entrance, to make it separate from the 
residential entrance. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Can we ask him, is he going to use the second entrance? Is that... 
 
Dr. Larson:  I don’t recall seeing the second entrance. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  It shows up on the aerial photo.  I assume it’s still there. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I didn’t see it. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I didn’t see a drive way but I saw an opening in the trees.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Look like it’s been… 
 
Dr. Larson:  You can see through the trees, but I didn’t see a road there. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I don’t know if there was a road.  There was the house and a clump of trees and another 
opening. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I didn’t see a road. 
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Mr. Ingalls:  I thought she said she saw two roads. 
 
Mr. Brown:  Well no.  I saw the house in the first driveway, a clump of trees, and then another opening 
where I saw the equipment.  I don’t know if there was a road. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I don’t see a road there, in fact thin trees in front of the equipment.   
 
Ms. Brown:  Yeah, in front of the equipment, but right after that there was another open space where I 
could see the equipment. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  The reason I bring this up is that it’s actually the application where, I mean, the reason 
that the county found out about this was the applicant has applied to VDOT for a new entrance to the 
property, and that aerial view kind of shows where that prep work may have been done in planning for 
that new entrance.  That new entrance may be where the vehicles end up going.  Can we ask the 
applicant if he pursuing this second entrance?  
 
Dr. Larson:  Sure. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Are you pursuing with VDOT this second entrance now if this is approved? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:   No, Sir, I’m not.  Actually the entrance was existing.  It still has not been used for…if 
you see it, there’s already a gate made up with the brick before I even purchased the property.  The 
entrance was there.  I just wanted to improve it so we can use it.  If VDOT does not allow it, I don’t 
have to have it. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  But you are continuing to pursue it with VDOT to see if you can use it? 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  No, Sir. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  No?  Okay. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’m open to suggestions.  I would just like to see it screened a little better from the road, 
so it’s more in harmony with the area. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there any other questions for the applicant while he’s standing here?  Thank you, Sir. 
Melody, can you read the section where it talks about the equipment, when we’re talking about heavy 
equipment?  Can you read that again please? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Under rural home business it says outdoor storage which may include fleet parking and 
equipment.  If you go to fleet parking, parking and storage more than 5 operable vehicles other than 
automobiles, then it says this is not to be construed to include parking and storage of farm vehicles or 
equipment or construction equipment such as bulldozers, front loaders, backhoes, and similar devices 
which are not licensed to operate on a state road. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  I think I saw heavy equipment there.  I don’t know, I can’t remember I was 
driving by. 
 
Ms. Brown:    I drove by a couple times.  I saw vans, look like white commercial vans.  I saw a row of 
those.  I saw the bucket truck.  I saw clumps and clusters of stuff. 
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Dr. Larson:  I didn’t stop, I drove by but I saw 3 things that looked large. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Heavy equipment shown on the aerial that was provided by Melody, heavy equipment 
lined up along the back of the property, away from 17. 
 
Ms. Brown:  The stuff I saw was white vans.  I saw several white vans with, I think red writing on the 
side, maybe 3 of them parked in a line.  I saw the bucket truck.  In front of the house there seemed to 
be a lot of stuff, but I don’t recall any backhoes there. 
 
Dr. Larson:  When was this taken? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I’m not sure of what the date of that photo?  Can you tell us what date that picture was 
taken that you provided, Melody? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  April 9th. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Dean, the picture we have in our packet, is kind of the view that I had of the backhoe 
where the second opening and the trees was, is what I recall.  After the house I thought I saw a view 
very similar to this.  This one right here.  The truck looks to be in the same spot that I saw it in, too.  
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think what you’re seeing in that photo I believe matches up with the aerial view.  You 
can see that extended backhoe arm in that similar location along the back of the property line. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yeah, the stuff that I saw was quite a ways back from the road. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Right. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Can we say something along the lines that any storage of allowable equipment outside 
shall be at the rear of the property?  I mean, that’s one way to kind of get (inaudible).   
 
Ms. Brown:  I don’t know what the setbacks are.  Do we know? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Well, it just says to the rear of the property.  I’m not saying where to the rear, but that 
it’s not towards Warrenton Road, it’s on the other side.   
 
Mr. Grimes:  Ideally the additional screening proposed with the landscaping should hide this 
equipment from view from 17. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  How tall does a Leyland cypress get?  
 
Ms. Brown:  Gets very tall but it takes a long time. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  How long is very tall? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Very tall is 10 years. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I mean how tall is very tall? 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I just had a 20 foot Leyland taken down from my home. 
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Ms. Brown:  But it takes a long time.  I had some planted in my neighborhood that were, you know, 
this big when they got planted, and it’s 15 years, they’re as high as the roof, but it takes a long… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  (Inaudible) 20-foot tree if you bought it would be pretty pricey.   
 
Mrs. Stefl:  It is, but it grows fast relative, my 20-foot was only 3 feet when I moved in 12 years ago, 
and it’s… 22 is what the arborist… yeah. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  All I’m saying is, again, I don’t see a reason why the equipment couldn’t go to the rear 
of the property.  It is already at the rear of the property.  I’m just saying (inaudible). 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Could we say it must be located 100 feet/200 feet from Warrenton road? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  (Inaudible - microphone not on). 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t either, but I know by the plat some things, but… 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well how far back would you say it’s located right now, based if we were looking at that 
from the road?  This white truck. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s that vehicle right there, it’s way back at the property line. 
 
Ms. Brown:  It didn’t look way far back to me, at least the white truck and the white vans, they looked 
pretty close.  How about I don’t care where they put it as long as it screened from view from the road.  
That’s why they suggested the building. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  His little map says that he’s going to build a vehicle storage, he shows 100 feet from 
Warrenton road. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Vehicle storage of what?  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Vehicle storage. 
 
Ms. Brown:  An enclosed vehicle storage, a 4 foot picket fence?  What kind of… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  It has to be landscape and according to the plan that’s going to be approved by the zoning 
administrator. Whether it’s vehicles or equipment, it’s outdoor storage and outdoor storage shall be 
screened. 
 
Dr. Larson:  In the interest of time since it is now 9:55pm, do I hear a motion on this case?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m concerned that we still have a grey area here, I wonder if it worth deferring it to… 
 
Ms. Brown:  That’s what I was going to suggest. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I would be willing to do that. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, I’d rather not make it too (inaudible), but by the same token I’d rather not make 
a decision that we would regret.  (Inaudible - microphone not on).  
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Dr. Larson:  I think that there are a lot of things that are still unclear in my mind with regards to this 
special exception.  I would like to do the same thing, defer it until next time we can pick it up here. 
Public hearing has been closed but we can pick up our considerations here.  I would ask the applicant, 
if he doesn’t mind, if he could come back next time to our next meeting in case the board has questions 
for him then that would probably be helpful. 
 
Mr. Bajwa:  I’d be glad to come back. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you Sir.  Alright, is there a motion to defer this? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Motion to defer. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Second to defer. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any discussion on the motion? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I would only offer that this gentleman is not allowed to conduct his business, correct?  
Until this is granted?  Based on the violation notice that I saw. 
 
Dr. Larson:  A lot of times it’s just the opposite. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  There’s a violation in place, that basically says: discontinue the use of the property for 
commercial purposes.  That’s been in effect and still will be remaining in effect until this is either 
decided one way or another. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Has that been issued by the department of planning and zoning?  
 
Mrs. Musante:  The violation notice has been issued by our department. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Then the enforcement is on your department? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  It is.    
   
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  We have a motion and a second on the floor.  Any other discussion?  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  What are we going to be doing in the next 30 days? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think we need to get some clarity as to some of the term and definitions, and what may 
and may not be… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Do we expect the staff to give us some kind of report within the next 30 days of some of 
the issue that we’ve been discussing?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’d like to have a work session because we had a number of issue tonight that we were 
grey area and not clear on, and put it on the next agenda to finish this up, but maybe can we have just 
some kind of something between now and then where we can clear this up? 
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Mr. Apicella:  My only suggestion on that is, these things come up all the time and we might want to 
hold a special work session at a given time during the year to kind of wrap up all these issues at one 
time, rather than having to continuous work sessions throughout the year.  This is certainly, I would 
say, a parking lot issue, where there’s some grey area we tried to, during our annual meeting, where we 
had kind of the annual report, we kind of summarized what’s some of these issue are so that we could 
go to the Board of Supervisors and/or the Planning Commission to kind of address those issues.  So I 
just think that… I hear what you’re saying, I agree, at some point it would be appropriate to have a 
work session but I just think we’re going to have more over the coming months that are likely to 
happen.  They may not, but just in the interest of time. 
 
Ms. Brown:  So we’re just going to get a clarification from staff in the next 30 days?  I don’t 
understand what you’re looking to get. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think there’s a lot of grey areas here.  I think we’ve talked about it.  I don’t think I 
need to inventory those.  I think… I would hope for the staff to come back and try to help us 
understand what are the real ground rules here.  What’s appropriate and what’s not appropriate, and 
what is the definition of equipment, because it seems unclear to me. 
 
Ms. Brown:  So you just want them to email us in the interim?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think they would provide it as part of the staff report for the next time this comes up. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other discussion on the motion?  So the motion is to postpone the further discussion 
on this case until next time. Those in favor say aye. 
   
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Any opposed? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye, me. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay, one opposed.  Pressing on to other business.    
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

• Discussion of Section 7-7 of the Bylaws 
 
Dr. Larson:  There’s a small bylaws change, article 7-7.  The following was added: The deferral 
request must be received by the BZA before the closed of business on the Monday, 22 days prior to the 

Page 55 of 65 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
April 28, 2015 
 
regularly scheduled BZA meeting on the 4th Tuesday of the month.  This deals with the request to 
defer.  Is there any discussion on that addition to the bylaws? 
 
Mr. Apicella:   Mr. Chairman, I move to adopt the revised language. 
 
Dr.  Larson:  Is there a second? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’ll second.  
 
Dr. Larson:  Any discussion? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Just that for consistency and normal approach to the bylaws and the way they’re written, 
22 should be spelled out and 22 in parenthesis. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Take that as friendly amendment, Mr. Chairman? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  You have that, Melody? 
 
Mrs. Musante:   I do, but also if you noticed you have now a cover sheet and an index that we have not 
had before? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  That was suggested by our county administration, that we have the cover sheet 
showing the date that we adopted them. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Dr. Larson I meant to ask this question before but, if the Chairman is unable to get a hold 
of 4 board members, does then he go to the alternates? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I just didn’t see that.  We don’t have a time frame getting back to you on those, within 24 
hours, or 48 hours? 
 
Dr. Larson:  It has to be quick; I mean these things… in 24 hours is normally stretching it... 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I understand. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  He would tell us to open his email, please response to me within 48 hours or whatever. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Or whatever it is, some of them they’re very quick unfortunately.  That’s why we’re 
putting in this… before the close of business on the Monday, 22 days before, that’s still pressing, that’s 
about a day and a half before we have to know.  Alright, so there’s a motion on a second.  Those in 
favor of making that amendment to the bylaws say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
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Ms. Brown:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Any opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Did we need to vote on the cover sheet and the… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think it was broad enough to say the amendment version of the bylaws.  
 
Mrs. Stefl:  So no changes in… so we’ll just keep this as the official bylaws so the staff doesn’t need to 
provide us the official copy of bylaws. 
 
Dr. Larson:  That’s the official copy but the red portion is now official. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  I was just… but staff doesn’t need to…? 
 

• Sign posting 
 
Dr. Larson:  For some reason I can’t remember what the sign posting, other business is. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Mrs. Brown? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I think that’s me.  I think in our last meeting we talked about...I had suggested we have 
the person that’s having the public hearing put one of those yellow signs in their yard, like we do for 
public hearings everywhere else, just because, you know, I think we talked about we notify the 
adjacent neighbor, one on each side, but in a neighborhood like Austin Ridge, that house that was on 
cul-de-sac, at the end of cul-de-sac, there’s not going to be a lot of people driving by, and yes it’s in the 
paper, but we do it all for public hearings.  I would just hoping we could do that for ours. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  There’s nothing in the state code that requires us to and unfortunately zoning 
ordinance, section 28-205 Notice, only talks about public hearings for the Planning Commission and 
the Board of Supervisors.  It does not state anything about the BZA.  
 
Ms. Brown:  When I was down in Richmond at my class, I asked that question, and if we should be 
doing that, and they said that they felt for litigation and protection purposes we should do as much 
notification as we could.  That was their answer for that. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Right. 
 
Ms. Brown:  They do that. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We would have to recommend that change to the Board that they would have to.  We 
can’t require it, BZA.  The county ordinance doesn’t require that…we allowed to do that.  
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Mrs. Musante:  That’s correct. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So that county would have to change that section you just read. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Susan, can we do it as a like a courtesy?  Or do we actually have to change the code?  
We may have to check that. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  The perfect solution would be to amend a code to include it.  We can do it as a 
curtesy.  It has basically been done that way throughout most of the jurisdictions in the commonwealth, 
because the state code does not require that you do that.  But most of the jurisdictions just have done 
that.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We could do it… you could do it on the account nobody’s going to complain. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  Yes, but the ideal way to do it would be to bring an amendment forward to include 
cases before the BZA.  Now we would need to check with legal concerning variances and appeals. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yeah, I would think there may be property owners that object to it, and if we don’t have 
the legal right to do it, then we can’t. 
 
Mr. Blackburn:  We can always check with legal on their opinion, because the cases, as you all know, 
that come before you all, are a little different.  They are not rezoning cases.  They are not site 
development cases.  They’re special. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  On the one hand I certainly agree that we should be as open as transparent as we can.  
My only concern is, if we do it, add it as a code section, and we don’t meet that requirement, then we 
subject ourselves to litigation because it wasn’t put in the right place, or at the right time, on the right 
day, so I would recommend we do it as a curtesy and not necessarily as a requirement, adding another 
potential point of litigation. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Well that was the whole point to avoid litigation. 
 
Mr. Apicella:   That actually could create litigation.  Somebody will come back and say, you didn’t 
post it the way you supposed to, or you didn’t meet the specific requirement, just like notice, if we 
didn’t have notice on the right day in the paper someone could say that issue that you adjudicated is 
null and void because you didn’t meet the public notice requirement, because you’re adding a new 
public requirement essentially.  Don’t meet it, then again, you create an issue. 
 
Dr. Larson:  So how do we resolve this? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  I’ll do some research and get back with you. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Maybe we could look at how the other counties are doing it.      
Ms. Blackburn:  We can easily do that. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I know Richmond is doing it, or who was in our class, it was Henrico I think. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  They were not doing it for Board of Zoning Appeals when I worked there. 
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Ms. Brown:  The gentlemen at our class, he was the head guy down there, I thought… maybe it was 
Chesterfield, one of the Richmond counties.  
 
Ms. Blackburn:  But I can easily check to see what the other counties are doing. 
 
Dr. Larson:  That would be great.   
 
Ms. Blackburn:  I will get back with you all. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you, and we may need some sort of support then in a local code to be able to do 
that as well.  Thank you. 
 

• BZA and Court Actions 
 
Dr. Larson:  Ah, yes.  The BZA and court actions.  Not sure I actually brought what I wanted to bring 
for this.  There’s a case pending before the circuit court, and I’m afraid I forgot what I was going to 
bring, oh wait, maybe I did bring it.  It’s the Waldowski versus Board of Zoning Appeals, and I wanted 
the board to be aware of what the Supreme Court has held, although our local circuit court still has not 
ruled on a case very similar to this.  So, in theory, I suppose it’s still up in the air, but in the … I think 
you should have gotten this the hand out March 12, 2015, Waldowski versus Board of Zoning Appeals, 
I wanted to point out a couple of things that you should be aware of.  On page 4; the general assembly 
amended the first paragraph of the Code of Virginia and basically says: Any review of the decision of 
the Board of Zoning Appeals shall not be considering the action against the Board and the Board shall 
not be a party of the proceeding.  I think I’ve been asked recently about us attending those and I have 
refused.  On the next page, page 5; any review of a decision of the Board meaning BZA shall not be 
considered an action against the Board and the Board shall not be a party to the proceedings.  The 
governing body, which in our case is the Board of Supervisors, the land owner, and the applicant 
before the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be the necessary parties for proceedings.  So our current 
practice and our past practice has been when the BZA is challenged, we send them our verbatim 
minutes but we do not attend the court hearings and in fact that is the case as stated here in the review 
from the Supreme Court of Virginia.  That said, this particular case, Waldowski, is still being batted 
around and one of the things, well the thing that the Board of Supervisors is contending is that the case 
named the Board of Zoning Appeals rather than the Board of Supervisors.  The 30 day limit expired, 
they didn’t correct it, in fact I still don’t think it’s been corrected.  So I think somebody, I can’t 
remember who now, somebody asked me this question recently and I just wanted to make sure that the 
BZA understands why we don’t get involved in the court proceedings.  Melody?  Did you have some 
sort of list of things/decisions that we’ve made that are being challenge in court? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  There were actually several that were appealed, but most of them were purged because 
of inactivity.  After 2 years they destroyed the record.  It’s gone.  The only active one we have over 
there currently is the Wild Run Brewery, the one that you all just revoked.  Everything else has been 
purged.  Gone.  
 
Dr. Larson:  So that decision has been appealed? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  It’s been appealed but I have not received the writ from the judge from the court to 
send it, so I’m not sure what’s going on with it.  It’s unusual, because from what we understand the 
judge is supposed to respond within 10 days, and we have not received anything.  The only thing I 
received was the petition, and that’s been a few weeks. 
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Dr. Larson:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So is that something we’re going to keep continued to shine a light on those things that 
are still in play, when they start to be in play and what the final action is?  We talked about that at a 
previous meeting. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I would like to stay apprised on what is being challenged and the status of that.  I’m not 
sure if we need to talk about it every meeting, but maybe at the annual meeting would be a good time 
after the elections or before.  It’s just nice to know what, throughout the year, what has been 
challenged, what’s the status, that kind of thing.  I think you already do this, but when we’re 
challenged, we need to know the disposition and you can forward that to the BZA, whether we’ve been 
overturned or not.  It’s a useful point of reference. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Can we just do if time permitting.  It only took like 5 minutes.  If there’s something that 
we might not be doing. 
 
Dr. Larson:  I’m sorry.  Say that again. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I’d like to do it not just once a year.  It only took 5 minutes.   Once a meeting if there’s 
time permitting.  If there’s something that’s repeatedly occurring, I wouldn’t want to wait until the end 
of the year to find out. 
 
Dr. Larson:  No, you misunderstand.  This Waldowski appeal has been going on for how many years 
now? 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Three.  Four. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Three or four. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Okay, I thought you meant new ones coming.  That’s what I was… 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay.  Ah.  Oh, you mean new things being appealed?  
 
Ms. Brown:  Yes. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Oh.  Yeah.   
 
Ms. Brown:  I’d like to know that. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think that any time I receive one it’s usually the same time Melody receives it, I let you 
guys know in that meeting. 
 
Dr. Larson:  We don’t get a lot of them. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  It’s not a lot of them, but… it’s just, here is the case.  This is where it’s at.  What’s going 
on.  I think last year we only had one. 
 
Ms. Brown:  That’s terrific.   
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• HB 1849 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay.  House Bill 1849.  Steven, you have several questions and comments about that.  
You want to say anything about that? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Well, the first the question I might have is, when do the changes go into effect.  Is it just 
like anything else?  July 1st?  
 
Mrs. Musante:  July 1st. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just hope that, and I’m sure we will, get some more guidance and potentially training 
on what these revisions mean.  At first I thought they were fairly significant in terms of the criteria and 
definitions for a variance, but on second look maybe not as much, but I could be wrong.  I’m not an 
attorney.  It still looks to me like it’s, you know, when looking at a variance, the specific parcels and 
the uniqueness of the parcel is something that is dispositive.  It kind of flips around though the way we 
are supposed to make the decision.  So again, I think it would be helpful to know, especially before our 
July meeting, if we have a variance coming up, how we’re supposed to proceed forward.  And the 
other thing that’s very important is this ex parte communication, because we do communicate and it’s 
been okay.  We got to make sure we don’t step on any mind field and how we proceed forward.  One 
of the questions I might have, as you all know, I like to ask question in advance, if I ask questions, is 
this kind of triggering this provision, merely asking the question much less getting the answer to the 
question.  So I personally like to help staff be as prepared as possible by letting them know what I 
might be thinking and some research they might be able to do in advance.  That’s why I like to ask 
questions.  So I think that’s something I’d like some clarity to.  I was disappointed though that I didn’t 
see a lot out there, at least when I google searched, that explains what these provision mean, so I think 
we’re sort of, kind of waiting for somebody to kind of work their way through it and help understand 
what they mean. 
 
Mrs. Musante:   Mr. Chairman the Virginia Association of Zoning Officials is having their region 
meeting on May 14th.  Andrew McRoberts from St. Anderson is coming to speak on this topic and any 
other legislative updates that are out there.  We have received approval from our Region Chair that we 
can invite one BZA member per locality to come to this session.  So whether it be you, or if any other 
members, but we only can do one because of seating capacity, but it is May 14th.  It’s in Prince 
William County and it will start between 8:30 and 9:00 o’clock and go until probably noon. 
  
Ms. Brown:  I think the big thing is that… we were briefed on this in the class I went to, the governor 
signed the law on the Friday, we started class that Monday.  So a lot of our materials needed to be 
changed and they weren’t quite sure how it was all going to shake out, but I thought the most important 
piece for us is going to be ex parte communications and site visits.  That’s all going to change. 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  And I may say, if you look through it, when you get on to section D, it does say, this 
shall not apply to cases where an application for a special exception has been filed. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes.  I noticed that.  Okay.  Well if nobody objects, I’ll try to make the May 14th.  Could 
you send me an email with the information on it? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  May I ask if there’s any handouts that we be provided? 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
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October 28, 2014 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any comments on the October 28 minutes?  Did we already go through comments on 
some of these?  No?  I have a few small things.  On page 7, line 312 the word “wished” should be 
“wish”. On line 344, next page, the word “force” should “enforce”.  Line 401, the word “here”, this is 
a clarification as opposed to the others, I think.  The word “here” I would like to replace with “to the 
Board”.  Line 692, the word “thought” should be “though”.   
 
Mrs. Musante:  Could we have the page number please? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Oh, Page 15, line 692 the word “thought” should be “though”.  There is a “t” that 
shouldn’t be there. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Okay, back on your prior correction for 401, we do verbatim minutes, so do you want 
to put “to the Board” in brackets? 
 
Dr. Larson:  Yes. 
 
Mrs. Musante:  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Line 1370 on page 28, the sentence that begins “That’s why” insert the word “I”, and you 
can put that in brackets.  Page 37, line 1786; this is all a clarification “so I’ve asked the county staff to 
get the”, delete the word “edit”, this is, again, I guess we use brackets for this somehow, and after the 
word “request” “for Zoning Administrator determination in question”, so that’s an addition in brackets.  
So after the word “request” in the brackets “for Zoning Administrator determination”.  Page 43, line 
2078; it says “court so” the “the” should be “they”.  Same page, 2083; “Roberts Rules” was repeated, 
so you can just delete the second “Roberts Rules” there on line 2083.  Line 2092; the word “cannot” 
should actually be “can”.  Not sure how you want to handle that.  Page 45, line 2162, the first word is 
“the” it should be “they”.  Any other questions to the October minutes?  Uhm, corrections? 
 
November 25, 2014 
 
Dr. Larson:  Okay, any corrections to the November minutes?  Okay, hearing none.  
 
February 24, 2015 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any corrections to the February 24th, 2015 minutes?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  On page 4, line 185; where it said “10 month” should say “10 months”.  Same on 195; 
“11 months”.  That’s it. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Any other corrections? 
 
Ms. Brown:  I have something.  On page 14 of 65, line 677; Maybe we could listen to the minutes 
again, I thought the applicant has started off answering my questions with no ma’am, when I asked 
him if he… 
 
Dr. Larson:  I’m sorry, which line are you on? 
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Ms. Brown:  677.  When I asked him if he no longer intended to enclose the pavilion, I thought he 
shook his head at me and said no ma’am and then said that he’d like to in the future.  If we could just 
double check that in light of the fact that that might be going to court too. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Could you check the recording on that, that’s something that there’s no way I could 
remember. 
 
Ms. Brown:  I could be wrong, but that’s what I recall him telling me. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Anything else on these minutes?  Okay.  Is there a motion to approve the October 28th, 
2014 minutes?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  So moved, Mr. Chairman, with the amendments. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there a second? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Second.   
 
Dr. Larson:  Discussion? 
 
Ms. Brown:  Yes, I’m going to abstain from the October and November minutes as I was not a member 
of the BZA at that time. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson: Aye.  Any opposed?  
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there a motion to pass the November 25th, 2014 minutes? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So moved, Mr. Chairman  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Second.  
 
Dr. Larson:  Any discussion?  Those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
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Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Any opposed?  
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there motion to approve the February 24th, 2015 minutes?  
 
Mr. Apicella:  So moved, Mr. Chairman with the identified amendments. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there a second? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Second. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Discussion?  
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I was not here and I’m going to abstain. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Likewise. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Those in favor say aye.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Ms. Brown:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Opposed?  
 
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Dr. Larson:  Zoning Administrator’s report? 
 
Ms. Blackburn:  I have nothing at this time. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Thank you, Susan. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 
Dr. Larson:  Is there a motion to adjourn? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So moved. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Second? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Second. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
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Ms. Brown:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mrs. Stefl:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Opposed?  Thank you ladies and gentlemen.  
 
With no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 10:31 p.m. 
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	Mrs. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property, and the layout of the area to be used for the business.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to operate a home business that will consist of firearm ...
	Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Are there any questions for staff?
	Ms. Brown:  Just one.  I’m sorry.  How many parking spaces did you say he would provide?
	Mrs. Musante:  He will need to provide one additional parking space.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay, just because his application had stipulated 4.
	Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, a few questions.  Can you reiterate what the County’s parking requirements are in this instance?
	Mrs. Musante:  For single family dwellings they are required 2 parking spaces which does not include the…or allow them to utilize the garage for parking, so that he will use the 2 spaces in his driveway and would have to, if his driveway does not acco...
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  In looking at the application or the letter that was provided, it seems to be a little bit broader than described in the staff package.  So I would note that it says, at least in the letter, “Transfer of firearms and ammunition i...
	Mrs. Musante:  We included in the ad the firearms sales, transfers, and accessories.  I do believe that that would include everything that has submitted within his application.
	Mr. Apicella:  So, again, and I’ll certainly ask the applicant this question, general outdoor equipment and accessories seems to be fairly broad.  I don’t know what that means.  It sound like it might be beyond weapons related material.
	Mrs. Musante:  In discussion with the applicant he was talking about like camping accessories, which he can further elaborate on that.  The only reason that he is before you tonight is because of the firearms part.  If he were doing just the accessori...
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay, I apologize for my confusion.  I thought that you could not do retail sales out of your home.
	Mrs. Musante:  He’s not.  He’s doing it online.
	Mr. Apicella:  So he would be selling camping equipment online…
	Mrs. Musante:  Correct.
	Mr. Apicella:  … and money exchange…
	Mrs. Musante:  Online.
	Mr. Apicella:  … online with the pick up at the home.
	Mrs. Musante:  No.  He has them drop shipped.  They would not be coming to the home to pick up the equipment, but he can further elaborate on that.
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Is that clear in the conditions though that he can only drop ship?
	Mrs. Musante:  Number 5 of the conditions: The business shall not engage in the retail sales of merchandise on the premises, meaning merchandise must be paid for online.
	Mr. Apicella:  Right, but it doesn’t say you can’t pick it up at his house.
	Mrs. Musante:  It does not.
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  That’s something we might want to further discuss.  The last question, and I guess it’s kind of to the panel itself, we’ve issued some time limits on similar requests recently, what was the average time limit we’ve put on these, ...
	Mr. Grimes:  I believe it was that it couldn’t transfer to the next owner, or expired when this owner vacated the property.
	Mrs. Musante:  And that’s what we put on this condition.  Approval of this special exception for firearm transfer services, firearm sales, gunsmithing and the sale of general hunting and outdoor equipment and accessories will expire when this applican...
	Mr. Apicella:  Thank you.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Comment.  Condition number 14, along the same line that Steve was talking about, this bothers me a little bit that it says, I mean, “Approval of this special exception for firearm transfer services, firearm sales, gunsmithing and the sal...
	Mrs. Musante:  These are just suggested development conditions.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I understand.
	Dr. Larson:  Any other questions?
	Mrs. Stefl:  I have one question.  In the application and his letter he stated that the days and hours of operation were Monday through Friday, 6 PM to 10 PM, but we have 6 AM to 10 PM.
	Dr. Larson:  Does staff have a clarification for that?
	Mrs. Musante:  That appears to be a typo.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Okay good.  I just want to make sure.
	Dr. Larson:  So, I’m sorry, so which one is it?
	Mrs. Musante:  His application states 6 PM.
	Dr. Larson:  Okay.  Thank you.
	Ms. Brown:  I did have another question.  I think I’ll save it for the applicant if I could.
	Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for staff?  Okay, I will now open the public hearing.  Will the applicant or his/or her representative please come forward and present their case?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Hello everyone.  My name is Robert Schmatjen.  Thanks for your time and volunteering for tonight.  Primarily the business that I would like to partake in and conduct would be primarily e-commerce through drop shipment services of the w...
	Dr. Larson:  Is that your entire presentation?  Are you finished?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, Sir.
	Dr. Larson:  Any questions for the applicant.
	Mrs. Stefl:  I have a question.  I guess, you say gunsmithing and when I look up the definition of gunsmithing that’s repairs, modifies, designs, and builds guns.  So you’re possibly going to be doing this on guns that are returned by a customer, or c...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  They would come to me in the mail, and they would be folks that had reached me through the website that I would have, and they would ask for specific services.  Some of the services would be mostly refinishing of more antique type guns...
	Mrs. Stefl:  Refinishing in the sense of…  Could you just elaborate a little more?  Because when I think of gunsmithing I think of something that would have to be tested, and fired to ensure that it’s working properly.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Absolutely.  So it could include those things, but obviously I wouldn’t be testing those on the premises.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Okay, but what do you mean by refinishing?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So stripping the old finish.  It could be bluing or, the term is parkerize, but it’s basically a weatherproofing for the metal of the gun that I would strip off and then redo to make it look better, or to get rid of rust or other thing...
	Mrs. Stefl:  Now you state that you’re going to have all weapons and ammunition in a locked safe that is in a room that’s dead bolted, but you still would have… or will you have your private weapons that could not be accessible to the general public, ...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I will keep all of my personal guns separate from any customer guns that I ever have, but again, the primary focus of this is not to have guns very often that do not belong to me, that are not part of my collection, and my collection o...
	Mrs. Stefl:  In your home, because you state 5 days would be the longest… guns and accessories, so that includes your outdoor equipment and…
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, ma’am, 5 days would be the longest.  Certainly would be in the case I mentioned earlier where there were refunds and I would either give them back to the distributer or the manufacturer, or whatever it was for that warranty process.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Okay.  Thank you.
	Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant?
	Ms. Brown:  Mr. Chairman, I have several questions.
	Dr. Larson:  Okay.
	Ms. Brown:  Several for you.  Will you be manufacturing any ammunition?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Manufacturing ammunition I don’t believe so, however I do reload ammunition.  So I don’t know…
	Ms. Brown:  So will you be storing like black powder or smokeless powder?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Store? Yes, currently I do have powder and all things needed to reload.
	Ms. Brown:  How much do you anticipate having at one time?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Powder?  Specifically?  As much as I can afford, but no, actually it’s less than 5 pounds.
	Ms. Brown:  Less than 5 pounds?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes.  It’s expensive and it’s obviously a liability.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay, same thing for like smokeless powder, is I think that’s what it’s called?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes it is.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay.  Alright.  Could people conceivably come to your house to return some merchandise?  Anybody that bought from the area, could they…
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I guess they could.  Yes.  But again, I’d prefer to keep everything through shipping and through the website.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Because again, I see it as liability.  So in rare cases maybe, if I knew someone, someone was a friend that I’ve known for a while then I may would do that, but for the most part the business’s intent is to only be conducted electronic...
	Ms. Brown:  Okay.  Were you aware of the parking requirements that you would need an additional space beyond the 2 in your driveway when you applied?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So what I understood was that I would need a total of 4 spaces which I have.  I don’t know when you say additional, I’m not clear on the question.
	Ms. Brown:  Well, for the rules we can’t count the garage as spaces, and the driveway would count as 2.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  The driveway is only 2?  Because our driveway is… typically we… we fit 4 cars in the driveway.
	Ms. Brown:  When I visited your house you did have 3 in there, one kind of hanging off the end in there, but okay.  I think that’s all I have.  Thank you.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Mr. Chairman?
	Dr. Larson:  Yes.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I’m having a little bit of a trouble understanding your business model.  We’ve talked about a number of different things.  Now tell me exactly how do I get to know you, your business?  How do I know your business, and how do you ...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So the items are… basically there is a whole seller that has a drop ship service for distributers, or like my business model.  I have a website that attracts people to my website, and I can announce sale items, and I can obviously adve...
	Mr. Ingalls:  So you actually would never handle, physically handle a gun, or ammunition, or a tent, or whatever else they’re ordering?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  In a perfect world no, Sir.  But in the event that the end user would like to return that for some warranty situation or perhaps I honored some type of customer satisfaction to allow them to take that back, then of course they have to ...
	Mr. Ingalls:  So you wouldn’t have a gun sling for sale at your house, or a tent, or…
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No.
	Mr. Ingalls:  You wouldn’t have any of these things.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No.
	Mr. Ingalls:  The only thing you may have from a customer, or from some place, a gun that you were going to do some gunsmithing on or something like that?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes.  So part of that website that I would have would also offer that as a service and a customer could ship me whatever it was and it could just simply be a barrel, it could be a stock, and then you know I could offer refinishing of t...
	Mr. Ingalls:  One of the conditions talked about, you know, your ammunition, should we store it in cans with no more than 5,000 rounds.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Right.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I understand if you were going to gunsmith you’re going to need, like my colleague said, you’re going to go test it.  I assume you’re going to go to a gun range and test it, so you would probably need some ammunition to be able to do that.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Right.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t know…why would you need 5,000 rounds at your house?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So I shoot every week and I have at least one competition.  In fact last night was a… every Monday night I’m part of a bull’s eye league.  So I shoot shotguns, rifles, pistols, several different types of both of those actually througho...
	Mr. Ingalls:  So most of your ammunition is personal use?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  It’s all for personal use.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Well, I assume you could still, like I said, if you’re testing somebody’s gun, I assume you could consider that business ammo, but you’re not going to have anywhere near 5,000 rounds?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I wouldn’t think so.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Just to talk about your days and hours of operation.  Can you enlighten me why you only want it from 6 PM to 10 PM and no weekends?  I mean, if I’m understanding, if you’re telling me exactly, if I understand what you’re telling me, you’...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Right.
	Mr. Ingalls:  So I’m assuming that the hours of operation are basically, these would be the hours which a customer would come to my house.  Otherwise you’re going to be sitting in some little room looking at your computer, and I’m not going to care wh...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Sure.  So the intent here is that if this works, eventually I can replace my job with it.  I drive up north, as most of us do here in Stafford, and I work for a federal contractor, and this is a second business.  For one, obviously it’...
	Mr. Ingalls:  Just… have you thought about, well if my business grows and you do that, and you’ve got these, if we were to pass this tonight and put those hours in here, you don’t want to come back and see me do you?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir, but I am never home before 6 o’clock on a weekday.
	Mr. Ingalls:  No, no, no, you know, just because you say this is my hours, I’m not telling you you got to work those hours, I’m not your boss.  If you were to expand and say, well maybe I am going to quit my job and I’m going to be home at 9 o’clock i...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Sir, are you suggesting I could make them more?
	Mr. Ingalls:  I’m just trying to figure out whether you thought it all the way through and whether…you might want to consider whether you want to think about your hours of operation based on something that, you know, maybe it’s going to happen, maybe ...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  That’s kind of the intent, Sir, because it’s primarily to be conducted electronically anyway, so hopefully I’m not having… again, I see it as a liability to have a lot of traffic in and out of the home for a business.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, I’m just giving you a chance to say, you know, maybe you ought to think about the hours, but you could always ask us to change it if that’s… we may say yes, we may say no.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I like the hours where they are right now, because I don’t conceive of any time in the near future opening it beyond those anyway.
	Mr. Ingalls:  That’s all Mr. Chairman.
	Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant?
	Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I hadn’t thought about this before and in the previous cases either, but it kind of came up during the course of the conversation this evening, both in terms of the ammunition and the gun powder, and storage of that.  I ha...
	Ms. Brown:  I had discussed this with the fire marshal and if you would like to, we could discuss that when we have our discussion, because they did have some suggestions about that.
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.
	Ms. Brown:  If we’re interested.
	Mr. Apicella:  I guess the one thing I’m asking, it speaks to ammunition, I think of rounds, gun rounds is ammunition, and gunpowder separately is from ammunition, so you wouldn’t have the problem if we added the words gunpowder in terms of how that n...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So I’m assuming we’re talking about storing it in the same type of…
	Mr. Apicella:  Some kind of storage at your house that we… because it doesn’t speak to it in the proposed conditions.  I’m sure you’ve seen those, but again, your business model could change.  You may not have gunpowder now, but you might have gunpowd...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I would say that the gunpowder is separate from the business anyway.  It’s not, I mean, it’s for my personal use so…
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  So you wouldn’t have reason to exchange gunpowder with any clients?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No.
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Again, I sort of lightheartedly joked about it, that I was buying as much as I could afford, but that’s simply because the prices have gone up so high lately, that…
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Well, I appreciate you clarifying that.  Thank you.
	Dr. Larson:  Any other questions for the applicant?  I have one.  Guns and accessories shall be stored for no longer than 5 days.  Does that… is there any problem if there is a holiday and 2 weekend days, and, I mean, do you mean 5 business days, or a...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  5 business days, which for me are Monday through Friday, would be fine, and thanks for that consideration, but again, I don’t expect to have one for any longer than as long as it takes me to ship it back out to, to conduct whatever war...
	Dr. Larson:  Thank you.  Any other questions for the applicant?  Okay.  Thank you.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Thank you for your time.
	Dr. Larson:  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in support of the application please come forward.  Seeing none.  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition to the application, please come forward.
	Mr. Starkey:  Good evening ladies and gentleman.  My name is John A. Starkey and I’d like to thank you for this opportunity to express to you my opposition to this exception to the rule.  I live in a neighborhood and there is plenty of children.  It’s...
	Dr. Larson:  Thank you, Mr. Starkey.  Would anybody else like to speak in opposition to the application?  Does the applicant wish to respond or add additional information?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I can understand the concerns which is essentially why I think it’s a liability to open this to having a whole of knowledge and foot traffic into what I am doing in the business.  Again, the fundamental purpose is to keep it electronic...
	Dr. Larson:  Questions for the applicant?  Thank you, Sir.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Thank you.
	Dr. Larson:  We will now close the public hearing for this application and bring the matter back to the Board for motions and decision.
	Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, before anyone makes a motion, can we walk through the proposed conditions and maybe talk about any modifications to each one?
	Dr. Larson:  Sounds like a reasonable idea.
	Mr. Apicella:  I’ll start on condition 1, assuming there might be potential approval, days and hours of operation, Monday through Friday, to correct the typo to 6 PM to 10 PM, and no weekend hours.  So just changing AM to PM.  I have a suggestion on n...
	Mr. Ingalls:  So you would say that’ll be customers by appointment only, maximum 1 customer per visit?
	Mr. Apicella:  Yes, Sir.
	Mr. Apicella:  On number… I don’t want to skip around, I mean if somebody has something in the middle…Dana?
	Ms. Brown:  I wanted to talk about the parking.  I actually had a question for staff on that.  Could he use the driveway for 4 parking spaces?
	Mrs. Musante:  He can, because he’s only required 2 for the single family dwelling, so if he has 4 spaces in his existing driveway, he can utilize that existing driveway for the additional spaces.
	Ms. Brown:  Well, his driveway is not 4 spaces wide.  He doesn’t have a 3-car garage.  It’s a 2-car garage with… I didn’t think it was that long of a driveway, but it is a little longer than most, so he would be able to utilize that?
	Mrs. Musante:  He can.  Yes.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay.
	Mr. Apicella:  So, if there’s no change there, I’m going to go to number 9.  I think I heard Mr. Ingalls suggest that the number of round be reduced.  I don’t know what number he was thinking of.  Did you have a number in mind?
	Ms. Brown:  I’d like to not do that.  Based on my conversation with the fire marshal, he thought it would be very easy to get to 5,000 rounds.  He said that really wouldn’t take up a lot of room.  He explained it to me as, you know, shoeboxes or stuff...
	Mr. Apicella:  And did he have any recommendations on the type of containers they should be in?
	Ms. Brown:  He said it needed to be properly stored.  We do have Chapter 56 of State Fire Prevention Code.  It talks about how to store and it also talks about how much black powder, smokeless powder that you can keep for personal use.  There wasn’t a...
	Mr. Apicella:  But in terms of the containers themselves, no recommendation about what that needs to be?
	Ms. Brown:  We would have to go back and read the Code.  He just said properly stored.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I’m assuming a can, like you said, that’s not a coffee can.  Is it some kind of special can that prevents explosion, or heat protected, or something?  Is that what a can is?  I mean we’ve seen that word…
	Mr. Apicella:  I know, and I really hadn’t thought about it until tonight.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I thought it must be some type of protective can, not a coffee can, but I don’t know.
	Mr. Apicella:  But anytime you leave something up for interpretation…
	Mr. Ingalls:  I know, it says can and it could be a coffee can.  I don’t know what the proper term would be.  Would the applicant what the proper term for it would be?
	Ms. Brown:  Maybe we can ask him how he stores it.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So typically ammo is stored in ammunition cans that are used for military transports and those are available at gun shows.  I have several of them in my home that I keep the stuff in, and it protects it from fire, and obviously water, ...
	Mr. Apicella:  So would you have any problem with adding the word fireproof ammunition can?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Surplus ammo can is the…
	Mr. Apicella:  Surplus ammo can?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  … the typical term, but no, I’d have no problem with that.
	Mr. Apicella:  Okay.
	Mr. Grimes:  The term “fire proof”, especially when you get into the fire code, is a whole different set of criteria.  The cans he’s referring to, the ammunition cans, are not fire proof.
	Dr. Larson:  Not even close.
	Mr. Grimes:  They’re just metal cans, there to protect the ammunition.  Keep it from damage to the can, or to the ammunition, more than anything else.  So I think we need to stay away from the word fire proof, unless we’re talking about adding fire pr...
	Mr. Apicella:  Right.  Well, it does say under 12 that you’ve got… the applicant has to comply with state, federal, and local codes.  So there is a fire code requirement, I’d imagine that would capture it.  But what I would suggest then, given the con...
	Mr. Grimes:  Again, the word surplus is that this made, and we’d have to clarify surplus what?  Is it military surplus, is it commercial surplus?  There are different standards and different qualifications for those.  So commercially manufactured ammu...
	Mr. Apicella:  I’m kind of grasping at straws here, so if you have a suggestion…
	Mr. Ingalls:  If you have a suggestion on what we should call it…
	Mr. Apicella:  All I’m trying to do is get away from the notion that you could hypothetically put the ammunition in coffee cans and stick them in your garage.
	Mr. Grimes:  Right, and I think…
	Mr. Apicella:  That might not be the best business practice, but possible if we don’t clarify it.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Why don’t we say a commercial, like something to the effect of a commercially manufactured, you know, surplus ammo can?  Or ammo storage facility?  I mean, I’m trying to figure some legal use here, but…
	Dr. Larson:  I have a question for the applicant.  Are the ammunition cans, which it seems the ones that I’ve seen are green, and they’re rectangular, and they’re kind of heavy metal, and…okay…is there a term for that other than ammunition can?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  All I’ve heard of is surplus ammunition cans, but it refers to it coming from the military.  They sell it to the public.  It doesn’t really define what it does or what its intent is.
	Dr. Larson:  But if we said ammunition can rather than just the word can, wouldn’t the normal person associated with guns know what that meant?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I think one would reasonably conclude that that’s what that meant, Sir.
	Dr. Larson:  Thank you.
	Mr. Ingalls:  If we said military, if we said military ammunition cans, does that make it clearer, or not so clear?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Seems clear to me, Sir, but…
	Dr. Larson:  What do you call… I mean, I’ve seen them, I know what they are, but what do you call them?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I call them ammo cans.
	Ms. Brown:  Can I ask a quick question too of the applicant?
	Dr. Larson:  Sure.
	Ms. Brown:  Were you planning on storing that in that room in the basement you took me to?  He has, down in his basement, he has a windowless room that he has stored all his equipment in.  He has a, look like, heavy duty, metal gun case, you know, wit...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So that room was specifically the room that I’ve allocated for the business itself.  I don’t have any of my personal stuff in there that I store or collect or anything like that.
	Ms. Brown:  Would you be able to put these gun cases in that big cabinet that you had against the wall?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes.
	Dr. Larson:  You mean the ammunition case?
	Ms. Brown:  Yes, it looked like a big vault.  I didn’t have him open it, but it looked like a safe.
	Dr. Larson:  How big is your safe?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  84 by 42 by 26 inches wide.
	Dr. Larson:  Okay.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Approximately.
	Dr. Larson:  And you’re going to store the guns that you have.  I understand most of your business is going on over the internet.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Should I get one.
	Dr. Larson:  Should you get… okay, and the ammunition that you have also gets stored in that safe?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So if I were to have ammunition as part of the business, that’s where I would put it, but again, I don’t think that’ll I be dealing in ammunition.
	Dr. Larson:  Do you remember the fire rating on the safe?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No.
	Mr. Grimes:  I suspect that your personal ammunition storage outweighs anything you’d ever have for the business, correct?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Absolutely, Sir.
	Dr. Larson:  But we’re allowing him a total of no more than 5,000 rounds for the business.
	Mrs. Stefl:  I was just going to say, in the room, in the basement, this is a humidity controlled, or environmentally controlled room, or is it…
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Not so much.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Not so much.  So it does vary in hotness and cold?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So it uses the same environmental that the rest of the home uses.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Okay, so it’s not separate.  That’s what I’m just trying to grasp, because I wasn’t there to see the basement.
	Mr. Apicella:  So, after that discussion I’m going to give it another shot here.  Ammunition shall be stored in ammunition cans with no more than a total of 5,000 rounds for commercial use, and shall be separate from the firearms containers.  And that...
	Dr. Larson:  I think what you’re getting at is the fifth condition that we’re talking about, the business shall not engage in the retail sales of merchandise on the premises, meaning merchandise must be paid for online.  Do you understand then that yo...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, absolutely.
	Dr. Larson:  All the sales will take place online.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Transactions will be all electronic.  Yes, Sir.
	Mr. Apicella:  That doesn’t clarify it.  We’ve treated gun transfers a little bit differently.  We haven’t talked about other sales out of the home.  So we’re getting sort of back into this e-commerce issue of just because somebody transfers money ele...
	Dr. Larson:  Right.  Number 3 is “customers are by appointment, one at a time” correct?  Is that what you’re talking about?
	Mr. Apicella:  The Stafford County Code doesn’t want people to sell products out of their house.  It prohibits retail sales as a home business.  Okay?  We’ve allowed sort of this grey area as it relates to gun transfers.  Now we’re getting closer into...
	Mrs. Stefl:  But my understanding is that the ATF requires the person to come in person and present their driver’s license so he cannot avoid, he has to have…
	Mr. Apicella:  Mrs. Stefl, I’m not talking about guns. I’m talking about the other products…
	Mrs. Stefl:  Right, but…
	Mr. Apicella: … that he wants to sell.  A tent has nothing to do with federal fire arms requirements, or…
	Mrs. Stefl:  I understand that, but I…
	Mr. Apicella:  … or licenses.  He could sell, you know, donuts out of his house…
	Mrs. Stefl:  Right.
	Mr. Apicella:  … the bottom line is, we’re trying to avoid the issue of allowing by virtue of a special exception retails sales that are not allowed under the County Code.
	Mrs. Stefl:  But my understanding from the applicant, he wasn’t going to allow customers to come to his home, only the firearm transfer customers.
	Ms. Brown:  Or a return.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Or return, was my understanding.  If I misunderstood, I’m sorry.  Is that true?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, ma’am.
	Ms. Brown:  I’ve got the definition from our Code for home business.  It says “An occupation, profession, business or trade, with the exception of retail sales.  So…
	Mr. Apicella:  And again, I think when you look at 5 and 14, it presents a little bit of a grey area.  This is going back to Larry’s point, that… the sale of outdoor equipment...
	Mr. Ingalls:  We’re going down a slippery slope of e-commerce.  I can go to his house, and I’m going to say, I’m going to buy that.  And I say “Here, here is my… I got 50 bucks.  Here it is.”  “No, I can’t take the money.  You got to pay online.” “Oh,...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir. You cannot take that away from my home.  I have to ship it to you.  And then that’s e-commerce.
	Ms. Brown:  It’s like the Tupperware lady.  Okay?  She sells Tupperware and ships it out.
	Mr. Ingalls:  You would not… and I know your business model is there would be nothing there that you would have physically to sell.  Because you’re not touching it, unless it’s returned, it sounds like.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Right.  I’m the middleman from the whole seller to the end user.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I still say the e-commerce thing is a… paying online…
	Ms. Brown:  Can you deny someone that wants to buy something to come to your house with your firearms license?  If they want to say I want to come pick it up, you don’t have it at your premises, so would you order it and have it shipped to you, so the...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Hm, I’d…
	Ms. Brown:  Okay, so the only thing that you’re going to accept in your house is a return?  Is that pretty much it?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  That’s the idea.
	Ms. Brown:  And you would have to provide a refund at that time?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So, I say that, but if my brother, who lives in Stafford, wants to buy something, then potentially I would transfer it to him, but no, the business is not designed and I do not want the liability of folks coming to my house.
	Ms. Brown:  I mean, but you need to keep large amounts of cash?  Would you be doing a refund on the spot, or would it be an online, you know?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Refunds would certainly be online, back to the credit card.
	Ms. Brown:  Would that be stipulated on your websites, that all refunds will be credited back to your credit card?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Yes, there will never be cash.
	Mr. Apicella:  I’m going to go back to the last part of the sentence under number 5 which implies that it’s not a retail sale, as long as it is paid for online.  And that’s my problem.  We’re redefining what retail sales is by virtue of this one sente...
	Ms. Brown:  I’m not going to worry about precedent, because I think, as I just learned in class, every case is unique, so I don’t want to be afraid to do something because we’re setting a precedent.  Just to throw that out there.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  So I could offer a suggestion to number 5, Sir.  And that would be that if whether or not an item is paid for online or not, the item is never to be picked up in the home.  I would agree to that stipulation.  The intent is not for folk...
	Ms. Brown:  The gunsmithing though is a service that you would do at the home and take money for.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I would do the service at home, but again, I would ship the product back to the customer.
	Ms. Brown:  So if I came to you and wanted to get my gun serviced, I couldn’t drop it off at your house and pay you?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No, I guess not.
	Ms. Brown:  So I have to ship it to you?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  But I probably would never talk to you about it, because the only way I would take a quote is through the website, so…
	Ms. Brown:  Yeah, but I may look for one in Stafford County, versus shipping my gun off somewhere.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Oh.  Yeah, so I don’t intend to offer my address on the website so to speak.
	Mr. Apicella:  So I’m just thinking of a way forward, which is meaning merchandise must be paid for online and not picked up at the residence.
	Mr. Grimes:  I understand where you’re coming from Steven and I think (inaudible - microphone not on).
	Dr. Larson:  Melody, does the Code define retail sales?
	Mrs. Musante:  No it does not.
	Dr. Larson:  I didn’t think so.
	Mr. Grimes:  What did Ms. Brown just read us?
	Ms. Brown:  That was the definition of a home business.  From our Code.
	Mr. Grimes:  Home business says retail sales can occur (inaudible - microphone not on).
	Mrs. Stefl:  So why don’t we say…
	Mr. Grimes:  Why would we define it?  Why would we go out and define that and we can certainly add drop off meaning (inaudible - microphone not on).
	Ms. Brown:  There’ll be no store front.
	Mr. Grimes:  (Inaudible - microphone not on).
	Mrs. Stefl:  Or stockpiling or, you know, stocking of merchandise on premises.
	Mr. Apicella:  I don’t have a problem if he stocks merchandise.  The issue, again, is the customer-seller-interaction at the home.
	Mrs. Stefl:  So how about, all transactions must be shipped to and from customer?
	Mr. Apicella:  I kind of like what Robert was going with.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Can you say it again?
	Mr. Grimes:  Business shall not engage in retail sales of merchandise on premises and all merchandise will be shipped.
	Ms. Brown:  And paid for online?
	Mr. Grimes:  Or merchandise will not be picked up at the residence.  I mean, do we care if he throws it in the back of his trunk and delivers it in the Target parking lot?
	Mr. Apicella:  Not at all.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay, can we add that it’s all paid for online?  So we’re not doing money exchanges at the door?
	Dr. Larson:  I would insist that that stay on there.  Merchandise has to be paid for online.
	Ms. Brown:  All merchandise must be paid for online, or electronically.  How about that?
	Mr. Apicella:  So again, one more shot at this, “The business shall not engage in retail sales of merchandise on the premises period.  Merchandise must be paid for online and may not be picked up at the residence.”
	Ms. Brown:  Good.
	Mr. Grimes:  Beautiful.
	Mr. Apicella:  And again, I think that will help guide us in the future as well.
	Ms. Brown:  Thank you.  Well, can we go back to number 11 and…we talked about the 5 days was going to be 5 business days or 5 calendar days, what did we decide on that?
	Mr. Apicella:  I recommended business after the number 5.  May I ask that staff work us back through all the conditions?
	Ms. Brown:  Wait a minute, wait a minute.  Can we talk about the one the fire marshal talked about, about notifying the 911 dispatch center, that there is explosive… yeah, what did he call it… hazardous materials on site.  Just to give the firemen a h...
	Mr. Apicella:  So would that be a new number 10 maybe?
	Ms. Brown:  Yeah, that would… well 15.
	Mr. Apicella:  Well, it should go before 14.
	Ms. Brown:  Just, just, you know… I don’t care where it goes.
	Dr. Larson:  Not that I oppose that, but we all have hazmat on site in all of our houses.  So what do they define hazmat as?
	Ms. Brown:  Well we were specifically talking about bullets, because we were talking about ammunition, and powder, and…
	Dr. Larson:  I have ammunition at my house.
	Ms. Brown:  But if he’s going to be storing it in large quantities.
	Dr. Larson:  Okay, so now we’re starting with a definition that I can maybe deal with.  Can you define large quantities?
	Ms. Brown:  I don’t know what he’s going to have there at any one time.  I don’t… if you limit him to 5,000 rounds, that’s what he’s going to have for that.  We didn’t talk about any limits on the black powder or the smokeless powder or anything like ...
	Dr. Larson:  I don’t know.  I’m just trying to clarify what you mean.
	Ms. Brown:  I just want to give the firemen a heads-up that there could be a lot of exploding ammunition.
	Mr. Grimes:  I would also offer that if he starts hitting certain limits for any of these, the Code takes effect on what he’s required to do.  Fireproofing the rooms, sprinkler systems, there’s a lot of built in requirements, and the fact that we requ...
	Mrs. Stefl:  Can I ask the staff what would be the requirement for a brick and mortar type gun and ammo store in the sense of, do they have to notify, you know, fire and police and have that, in essence, marked on them?
	Mrs. Musante:  We would not have any idea what the requirements are.  I know, we did go to one site at Potomac Creek Industrial Park, and when you pull up to their building, they have this triangle thing that’s got three different colors on it, and th...
	Mrs. Stefl:  But there ultimately must be a trip of when he or she has to then put that notification on.
	Mrs. Musante:  I do not know what that is.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Okay.
	Ms. Brown:  I’m actually looking.  Because when I did a little research, you can go to the ATF website, and you can put in ZIP codes and counties, and you can find out who has firearms licenses in the area, and we had 88 in Stafford or Fredericksburg ...
	Mrs. Stefl:  I’m just worried about, are we setting precedent for other homeowners too.  Like you said, you know, you have ammo at your house.  I have ammo at my home.  Do I need to start notifying the fire… I think we’re starting a slippery slope here.
	Ms. Brown:  No, I wasn’t suggesting that at all.  We’re granting an exception to use permit here and we know for sure he’s going to have this stuff here.  I don’t know that you’re going to have it or not, but he’s going to have it as part of a busines...
	Mrs. Stefl:  I don’t know.  I think a lot of people have a business supply of ammo, and guns, and hazmat material, so…
	Dr. Larson:  Yeah, I think that might be the purpose for item 9…
	Mrs. Stefl:  I like her thought, but I don’t know…
	Dr. Larson:  … stored in ammo cans, no more than 5,000 rounds.  If we think that’s too much we should address that number, but I think the purpose of that is to allay some of these concerns you’re talking about.
	Mrs. Stefl:  (Inaudible - microphone not on).
	Ms. Brown:   I’m fine with the 5,000 too.
	Mrs. Stefl:  It’s the storage, proper storage is all I would want.
	Ms. Brown:  If he’s going to store it in that case in that case, I’m comfortable with that.  I saw it.  It looks very secure.
	Dr. Larson:  How much gunpowder were you talking about storing?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Again, that would only be for personal use, but no more than 5 pounds.
	Dr. Larson:  I’m just taking about for your business.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Don’t plan on it for the business, but I would say okay, 5 pounds for that as well.
	Ms. Brown:  That’s way under the personal use guidelines.  So he’s fine there.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I guess I don’t… I have a little trouble whether I’m going to broadcast everybody that has all these things, I’m not sure that somebody else isn’t doing the same search you’re doing and saying, wow, this house has this kind of stuff, may...
	Ms. Brown:  Well I did look up some of these homes and actually they are advertising on the web, and they are providing their address.  There is another one in Austin Ridge, right around the corner from you.  I don’t know that they’re… I didn’t look a...
	Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t believe we even notify the Sherriff’s Department when we do this, do we?  Which I always thought was kind of funny that we don’t even talk to the Sherriff’s Department to say, oh by the way, we’re approving a firearms transfer pe...
	Ms. Brown:  Well my concern in calling them was I was worried about how the bullets would be stored.  Exploding bullets, would that affect the neighbors?  The homes are kind of close over there.  And with that, you know, put our firemen in unnecessary...
	Mr. Apicella:  You know, I think there is some merit to the point that this is not in an agricultural area.  It’s in a residential community.  That may be kind of the line of demarcation.
	Dr. Larson:  Yeah, that’s a very good point, and just to emphasize what he’s talking about.  The previous FFL and firearm sales, and ammunition sales approvals that this Board has made, have all been, what was it, agricultural districts, much larger l...
	Mrs. Musante:  I don’t know if this is going to help matters or make them worse, but my husband happens to be a captain at the Quantico Fire Department and I asked him what they did when they come across a house that has large amounts of ammo, and he ...
	Dr. Larson:  Is your ammo stored in a safe?  No?  You said you have a large safe, correct?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I have a large locking cabinet, yes.
	Dr. Larson:  Locking cabinet?  Ah, so it’s not actually a safe with a combination on it, and…
	Mr. Schmatjen:  It has that, but it’s not a fire rated for ammunition type storage.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Is it a fireproof gun safe?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I guess so.  Yeah, but I don’t know what the fireproof rating is.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Well I don’t know what…I mean most gun safes, well some of them I guess you can buy with just a lock on it.  They give you different ratings.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I’m not sure what mine is.
	Mr. Ingalls:  But he said, you know, it sounds like…some people could have 5,000 rounds of ammunition in the house just for the pleasure of shooting or whatever.
	Mr. Brown:  Yes and our poor firemen walk in there and they have no idea what they’re walking into, and yes, my neighbor could have it that lives 20 feet from me and I can have exploding bullets flying into my bedroom, because we don’t know, but I’m j...
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Just for sake of assisting firemen, I used to be a volunteer fireman and I don’t have the time to do that anymore, but I’d be happy to call 9-1-1, well not 9-1-1, the 9-1-1 folks and let them know just for the firemen safety.  So wheth...
	Mr. Apicella:  So since he’s willing to do that, we can address it next time, whether or not it’s something we want to continue to do, but since he’s willing to do it, I don’t see a problem adding it.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Maybe staff could research that for us next time we have something like this, and talk to 9-1-1, and just, do they really want to know it.  Does the fire department really want to know it?  Does the sheriff’s department really want to kn...
	Mr. Apicella:  No, I think that’s a good point.  We should talk to public safety folks and see what they would prefer.  So can we add that then as the number… a new number 13, moving what is 13 to 14.
	Dr. Larson:  What would you like to add exactly?
	Ms. Brown:  The 9-1-1 dispatch center will be notified so they can notate his address, that there is hazardous materials on the premises.  Or we could say ammunition or gunpowder.
	Mr. Apicella:  How about if we say ammunition/gunpowder of a potentially high volume?
	Mr. Ingalls:  You said number 1 was… what did it say, number 1?  You said you looked him up and level 1 was…
	Ms. Brown:  Oh, uhm.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Gunsmithing and something.
	Ms. Brown:  Yeah, I don’t know what level he’s applying for.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t neither.
	Ms. Brown: These are the levels right there.  But he is going to be having ammunition on the premises.  We are going to let him store up to 5,000 rounds.  He admits he’s going to have black powder and smokeless powder.
	Mr. Ingalls:  I mean, he’s really not a dealer in firearms per se.
	Ms. Brown:  I don’t know.  Again, I don’t know which level he is.  Which level will you be?  What’s your firearms license?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  I’ve applied for level 1.
	Ms. Brown:  Level 1, okay.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  And I’ve also applied for, I believe it’s for level 3, for just in case I want to do gunsmithing that requires any serial numberisation of a receiver.
	Ms. Brown:  Level 3 is collector of curios and relics.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  Okay, then I’m mistaken.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Level 1 includes gunsmithing.
	Mr. Grimes:  Well I think that the classifications are for the hazmat material classification.
	Ms. Brown:  No, it’s federal firearms license.
	Mr. Schmatjen:  But none of what I’ve asked to do necessitates me storing any large amounts of powder or ammunition for that matter.
	Ms. Brown:  Okay, I’m not going to fall on my sword for this, but I would like to add it on if he’s willing, I’d like to do that.  I’m not going to vote against it for that, but I don’t see any harm in adding that.
	Dr. Larson:  I’m sorry, what would you like to add?
	Ms. Brown:  About the notifying the dispatch center.
	Mrs. Musante:  Mr. Chair?
	Dr. Larson:  Yes.
	Mrs. Musante:  Can we add that to condition number 12?
	Ms. Brown:  I don’t know, because I don’t think it’s a state law.
	Mrs. Musante:  Well it says “The applicant shall comply with all state, federal, and local codes and regulations for the operation of this home business” to include notifying the local fire departments regarding this home business.
	Ms. Brown:  Well, I don’t think they want to know there’s a home business.  I think they want to know that there’s hazardous material.  Well, can I make a motion to approve?
	Mr. Apicella:  I think we were going to walk through one more time just so we’re on the same page, what the revised conditions would be.
	Dr. Larson:  Do you think any of these conditions are unreasonable in your view?
	Mr. Schmatjen:  No, Sir.
	Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman?  I make a motion for approval of SE15-03/15150601 with the modified conditions as just read.
	Ms. Brown:  I second that.
	Dr. Larson:  Any discussion on the motion?
	Mr. Apicella:  I think we noodled this quite a bit.  What I would say though is, I would congratulate the applicant in producing a very strong application.  The letter really covered most of the bases other than a few grey areas, but all the applicati...
	Dr. Larson:  Any other discussion on the motion?  Hearing none, all those in favor say aye.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.
	Ms. Brown:  Aye.
	Ms. Apicella:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Aye.
	Dr. Larson:  Aye.  Any opposed?  Motion carries.  Thank you, Sir.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Aye.
	Ms. Brown:  Aye.
	Ms. Apicella:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye, me.
	Dr. Larson:  Okay, one opposed.  Pressing on to other business.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Aye.
	Ms. Brown:  Aye.
	Ms. Apicella:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  So no changes in… so we’ll just keep this as the official bylaws so the staff doesn’t need to provide us the official copy of bylaws.
	Dr. Larson:  That’s the official copy but the red portion is now official.
	Mrs. Stefl:  I was just… but staff doesn’t need to…?
	Dr. Larson:  For some reason I can’t remember what the sign posting, other business is.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Aye.
	Mr. Apicella:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Aye.
	Mr. Apicella:  Aye.
	Mrs. Stefl:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.
	Mr. Apicella:  Aye.
	Ms. Brown:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.
	Mr. Apicella:  Aye.
	Ms. Brown:  Aye.
	Mr. Grimes:  Aye.

